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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEESNWMRIDMN

The board of directors (the “Board”) of China Gamma Group Limited
(the "Company”) announces the annual results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the financial year ended
31 March 2014.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group is mainly engaged in
property business, gamma ray irradiation services and resources
business.

Property Business
The Group's property business includes property development, trading

of building materials and provision of renovation services.

During the year under review, the Group has been devoting resources
to land bank acquisitions. The land market in China was heated
up with more transactions taking place. While competition was
very intense in auctions, the Group sought to identify premium
land sites at the right opportunity and refrained from making
aggressive bids. The Group continues to focus on exploring mixed
use property development and investment in China. During the year
under review, the Group has not launched new property projects for
sale and turnover of property business was HK$1,011,000 (2013:
HK$8,046,000), of which turnover from trading of building materials
and provision of renovation services amounted to HK$1,011,000
(2013: HK$28,000). Segment loss narrowed down to HK$694,000
(2013: HK$2,959,000).

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

The Group’s gamma ray irradiation business is conducted through 7
BRI SRR B AR A7 (Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies
Co. Limited*), a 80% owned subsidiary of the Group which is
licensed by Ministry of Environmental Protection of the PRC for the
provision of irradiation services by utilising gamma ray technologies.
Turnover generated from the gamma ray irradiation services for
the financial year was HK$5,906,000 (2013: HK$5,941,000). This

segment reported a loss of HK$2,565,000 (2013: HK$2,515,000).

During the year under review, slow global economic recovery and
weak export demand have affected the operating performance of
the business. In response to weak demand, the Group has expanded
its services to new products with high margins, such as agricultural,
health food, seafood and chemical products. The Group also
strengthened business relation with existing and new customers
to increase business volume. In addition, the Group increased its
marketing efforts to tap into potential domestic customers, including
conducting market research on various products application, as well
as seminars for food and drug safety bureau, and food and drug
enterprises in China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Resources Business

The Group's first project of rare earth refinery and processing
business in China is conducted through 2 E %X R#H TR EER A
Al (Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology Company Limited*),
a 54% owned subsidiary of the Group. It operates a major rare earth

refinery and processing plant situated in Mianning, Sichuan province.

During the year under review, global economic growth remained slow
and prices of most resources were under pressure. Weak downstream
demand has negatively impacted the rare earth industry and prices
of most rare earth products. Meanwhile, the Chinese government
has imposed more regulatory measures on the rare earth industry
and promoted consolidation of domestic large rare earth enterprises.
These should restore the order of the industry in longer term. In
order to reduce losses incurred by the business, the Group prudently
procured less rare earth raw materials and substantially reduced its
rare earth oxides production, but increased trading of rare earth

resources during the year.

The Group has been continually exploring into different opportunities
related to value chain of resources from upstream, midstream to
downstream. Current downturn in the resources industry may provide
opportunities to the Group to invest in potential resources projects at

attractive valuation.

For the year ended 31 March 2014, turnover from the Group's
resources business amounted to HK$34,101,000 (2013:
HK$34,536,000). The segment loss was reduced to HK$3,559,000
(2013: HK$152,072,000) as a result of implementation of cost

reduction initiatives during the year.

Other Operation

During the year under review, Hong Kong stock markets remained
range-bound amid slowing Chinese economy. Due to both unrealised
and realised gains on equity investments held for trading, the
securities trading and investment business reported a loss of
HK$176,000 (2013: profit of HK$3,076,000).

PROSPECT

The global economic conditions remain challenging and the slow
global economic growth is likely to affect our businesses in the near
term. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to invest in our businesses
and will also eye on opportunities to diversify into businesses
providing steady income stream in order to enhance shareholders’
return.

EEENWRIN (&)

BREK

AEBRPEFARZEEAB DRMIERER HEB
AEBEEA%ERZMBAREZEEZXRT LRI
BRARET ZRARARMIEREREE KA
Mo R0 TR o

REBEFE 2REEERDARE RE2ERE
REB-BEIITERABOBLEREBRIITHSE
SREGHEEZE - BEFAR PRBFETEZR
TIERERER HELEEBAREBLEEER K&
ERSEARERF RRVEBEEZEBE K&
ERFERAEERDRES T REH YABRDEE
BmEaty HEENHELERES -

AEE-ERBERREAL BHAETHERESR
BEEZ TAEE - BAIERTENEXBERTAA
EERENEERS ZEEERBABTRESE -

REBEE-_Z-—NFEF=ZF=Z+—HLFE XK
TR 2 % ¥ 5 AB34,101,0008 L (=& —
34,536,000/ 70) c B R FRIEITR AR E
B 5y #B S 8 0R 4 23,559,0008 T (= F —
152,072,000 7T ) °

H H

il

[ =E 1 A
&

Ay

Hh i

REBEFE BEREMSERELERIE TER
T-ARBIEEEREREEEARER RBEZRK
W MEAFEE RIRE EBEEEE176,000%8 7 (=
T — =4 % 73,076,000/ 70 ) ©

Al

EREENAKBEE MEHREEEREEEHAR
MRFEAEEZER HIERK AEEBEER
ERETER UAETEEREAARERAR
R HER ARSI E 5, -

Annual Report 2014 —Z—PYFFR 5




Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWRDN (&)

Property Business

As the Chinese economy slows, domestic residential property sales
are expected to be slow this year with more supply of new home
units and tight credit environment. As for non-residential properties in
China, the development of commercial properties remained steady in
key cities. With more competitive operating environment in residential
property market, the Group will continue to focus on mixed use
property development and investment in China to cater for end-users’
demand for high quality residential and commercial properties. The
Group will also explore opportunities in property development and
investment in other regions to support the development of our other
businesses.

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

Although global economic recovery remains slow, demand for food
irradiation and sterilisation of medical devices using gamma ray
technologies has shown signs of stabilisation recently. As application
of gamma ray technologies in food irradiation has increased in recent
years, the Group believes there will be long term sustainable growth
in this industry. As such, the Group will stick to its plans to expand
its services to new products with high margins, such as health food,
drugs and chemicals, and will increase its marketing effort to source
new clients in these respective segments.

Resources Business

As disclosed in the Company’s 2013 Annual Report and 2013
Interim Report, the Group planned to sell a group of subsidiaries
that engaged in the rare earth refinery and processing business if
the assets value would be better reflected by such a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. The Group has been actively
seeking buyers for the said business. Meanwhile, a potential
buyer, who is an independent third party, has been identified and
negotiation for the sale is in progress. On 25 June 2014, a letter
of intent has been entered into between a subsidiary of the Group
and the potential buyer, pursuant to which due diligence of the said
business will be conducted by the potential buyer within a reasonable
period and the possible sale will be subject to further negotiation,
satisfaction of certain conditions and corporate approvals. Currently
no binding agreements have been reached between the parties.
The Group will make announcements in accordance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited as and when appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

As global economic growth remains slow with China in particular,
prices of most resources and industrial commodities have been
under pressure on weak demand, and are likely to stay low in the
near term. However, current downturn in the resources industry may
provide opportunities for the Group to explore and invest in potential
resources projects at attractive valuation. Our resources division will
closely monitor the industry trend, continue to explore and evaluate
potential resources projects with an eye for opportunities to acquire
and develop suitable resources projects at attractive prices.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group took several initiatives
to further improve the Group’s liquidity and strengthen its financial
base. In August 2013, the Company entered into a placing agreement
in relation to the placing of 7-year 5% unsecured notes in the
denomination of HK$2,000,000 each with aggregate principal
amount of up to HK$300,000,000 (the “Placing Notes”) for a
placing period of twelve months. During the year under review, the
gross proceeds raised from the Placing Notes was HK$20,000,000
(net proceeds of approximately HK$18,457,000). As at 31 March
2014, the Group has utilised the net proceeds from the Placing
Notes as to approximately 35% for the general working capital of
the Group (including operating expenses such as employee benefit
expenses, office expenses and utilities, professional fees and general
administration costs) and approximately 65% for refinancing of
existing debts. The issuance of a 7-year debt instrument was a
significant step towards establishing a longer-term debt profile for
the Group. The Group has also been actively working to replace
certain financing that carries higher interest rates. In September
2013, the Company issued and allotted 500,000,000 shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) to Hondex Investments
Limited (“Hondex"”) at a subscription price HK$0.1 per Share for
a consideration of HK$50,000,000, which was settled by way of
capitalisation of part of the loan due to Hondex from Jumbo Wealth
International Limited, a subsidiary wholly owned by the Company. The
Group has also negotiated with the lenders of other borrowings and
successfully lowered their respective interest rates. Such arrangements
have reduced the Group's financing costs markedly and improved
the gearing level of the Group, thereby strengthening the financial
position of the Group for its continuous development of its business.
The gearing ratio of the Group, being the ratio of the sum of total
borrowings and convertible note to total equity, was lowered to 83%
(2013: 85%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENW®RDN(EF)

During the year under review, the Group recorded a turnover of
HK$41,018,000 (2013: HK$48,523,000), representing a decrease of
15% compared with the previous financial year. The decrease was
mainly attributable to no property projects for sale during the year.

Loss from operations for the year ended 31 March 2014 amounted
to HK$24,463,000 (2013: HK$168,562,000). Net loss attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company for the year was reduced
to HK$51,471,000 (2013: HK$143,475,000), which was mainly
attributable to the absence of impairment loss on and amortisation
of intangible asset in this year. Impairment loss on intangible asset
and amortisation of intangible asset of the rare earth refinery and
processing business recognised for the year ended 31 March 2013
was HK$82,346,000 and HK$50,364,000 respectively.

As at 31 March 2014, the total assets and net assets of the Group
were HK$925,268,000 and HK$196,179,000 (2013: HK$949,997,000
and HK$190,554,000) respectively. The Board does not recommend
the payment of dividend for the year ended 31 March 2014.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group has raised gross
proceeds of HK$20,000,000 (net proceeds of approximately
HK$18,457,000) for general working capital and refinancing existing
debts by the Placing Notes. As at 31 March 2014, the Group had
cash and cash equivalents of HK$33,453,000 (2013: HK$56,437,000).
Short term bank borrowing, long term bank and other borrowings
and liability component of convertible note as at 31 March 2014
were HK$10,063,000 (2013: HKS$Nil), HK$52,044,000 (2013:
HK$66,667,000) and HK$101,272,000 (2013: HK$94,823,000)
respectively. The gearing ratio, being the ratio of the sum of total
borrowings and convertible note to total equity, was 83% as at
31 March 2014 (2013: 85%). The liquidity ratio, being the ratio of
current assets over current liabilities, was 133% as at 31 March 2014
(2013: 154%). The improvement in the gearing ratio was mainly
due to capitalisation of loan during the year under review. In order
to further improve the Group's liquidity and to increase its working
capital, the Company has been considering different fund raising and
capital restructuring options so as to strengthen the Group's financial
base.

8 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

REBEFE RNEBGEETE41,018,0008 7T (=
T — =4 148,523,000 ) W E— U HFER D
15% FEARFARATELEYEIBETH-

HE_Z—NMF=-A=1+—RHLFEz2EERE
724,463,000 L (ZF — =% :168,562,000/%
T) AFEZARBIERRREEEBRBIFERSE
51,471,000 7 (—F — =4 : 143,475,000 T ) °
TERHRAFENYEFTREFEEELRE R
Fﬁ@z REBEE-T—=F=A=+—BItFE %
ANMIEBERZ B EERBEBEREHES A
82,346,000;%m&50,364,000;%7zo

RZZE—ME=ZA=+—8 REAZBEERFE
E 5 5 /925,268,0007% 7T &% 196,179,000/ 7T (=
T — =% :949,997,000/%8 7T 2 190,554,000/ 7T.) °
EEETEEREBEE_T- " NMF=-A=-+—HLFE
AT A PR B,

RBEERMBEER
HE-Z-—NE=A=+—HALFE A£EEEB
& ZEEEFERIEEE20,000,0008 T (FT 8
BSR4 518,457,00087T) AE—REEE S
ERARARBEBERE R_TE—NF=A=1+—
H ~NEBEEARe MRS EFIEE33,453,0008 T
(ZZE—=%:56,437,000870) - R —F = A
=t+—B EHETEE ROKRTREMEENR

MR EEZ8EE D5 5 510,063,000 T (=
T—=—F:ZTBIL) 52,044,0008 L (T —=4F:
66,667,000/ 7T ) &% 101,272,000 7T ( — T — =4 :
94,823,000 7)  R-_E—ME=ZA=+—H BE
BELE (NBEERTRBRER ZBERAEERE
B2 E)A83% (ZF—=H:85%) - N _F—N
FZA=Zt+—BHZRBEASLER (DRBEERUR
BABIHER)AB133% (ZT— =% :154%) - BE
BENEREFEHRELNBFERNETEREAL
Fitie Rt —PUEAEEZRBES W MAZE
BES AQR—HEETREAREAEEAST TR
LA Dnog AN & [ 2 B 7 it o




Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Capital Commitments

At 31 March 2014, the Group had capital commitments contracted
for but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the purchase of plant and machinery amounting to
approximately HK$352,000 (2013: approximately HK$346,000).

The Company had no significant capital commitments at both balance
sheet dates.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2014, the Company had given guarantees to two
lenders in relation to other borrowings utilised by a subsidiary to the
extent of HK$325,002,000 (2013 restated: HK$366,713,000). The
Directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against
the Company under any of the guarantees. The maximum liability
of the Company as at 31 March 2014 under the guarantees by the
Company is the aggregate amount of the borrowings drawn down by
the subsidiary and the outstanding interest payable. In the opinion of

the Directors, the fair value of these guarantees is not significant.

The Company had contingent liabilities in respect of financial support
given to certain subsidiaries which have capital deficiencies to allow
them to continue as a going concern and to meet their liabilities as

and when they fall due.

The Group had no other significant contingent liabilities as at both
balance sheet dates.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2014, the Group's land use rights and certain
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$17,928,000 (2013: HK$18,467,000) were pledged to a bank to
secure the bank borrowing granted to the Group.

Share Capital

As a result of the subscription of new shares by way of capitalisation
of loan being completed on 27 September 2013, 500,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) were issued
and allotted by the Company, details of which are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 19 September 2013 and 27
September 2013 respectively.

As at 31 March 2014, the total number of issued Shares of the
Company was 4,298,681,490. Save as the above, there was no
change in the share capital structure of the Company during the year
under review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWRDN (&)

Convertible Note

In October 2011, the Company issued a convertible note to Mega
Market Assets Limited with principal amount of HK$105,000,000
with a term of 3 years (the “Convertible Note”). The Convertible
Note bear interest at the rate of 1% per annum payable semi-
annually in arrears. Each Convertible Note will be convertible into
fully paid ordinary Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.2422 per
Share of the Company (as adjusted by the completion of placing and
top-up subscription of the Company on 21 March 2013), subject
to adjustment in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Note at any time during the period commencing from
the date of issuance. As a result of the completion of subscription
of new shares by way of capitalisation of loan on 27 September
2013, the conversion price of the Convertible Note has been
adjusted from HK$0.2422 per Share to HK$0.2158 per Share (the
“Adjusted Conversion Price”). Based on the current outstanding
principal amount of the Convertible Note (HK$105,000,000), the
number of Shares to be issued and allotted upon full conversion
of the Convertible Note at the Adjusted Conversion Price shall be
486,561,631 Shares. The aforesaid adjustment has been effective
from 27 September 2013.

As at 31 March 2014, the principal amount of the Convertible Note
outstanding was HK$105,000,000 (2013: HK$105,000,000). Each
Convertible Note will be convertible into fully paid Shares at the
Adjusted Conversion Price of HK$0.2158 per Share upon conversion.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 March 2014.

LITIGATIONS

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited (“Silver
Wind"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
conditional agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) with Stronway
Development Limited (”Stronway Development”), pursuant to which
Silver Wind agreed to acquire from Stronway Development the entire
equity interest in Winmax Asia Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia”).
Under the arrangement, Winmax Asia would in turn acquire the
entire equity interest in Beijing Jianxing Real Estate Development
Co. ("Jianxing”) along with Jianxing’s standalone villas development
project in Beijing known as “#7 2 fEE". The aggregate consideration
payable for the acquisition was RMB433,000,000 which was to be
settled in cash, and two villas. In December 2007, RMB20,000,000
was paid under the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway Development
by Silver Wind as deposit (the “Deposit”). Details of the acquisition

are set out in the Company’s circular dated 14 December 2007.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things, that the
subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement was frustrated,
Silver Wind decided to terminate the Acquisition Agreement and,
through its legal representative has served a notice of termination to
Stronway Development. In order to protect the position of Silver Wind
and to recover, amongst other things, the Deposit from Stronway
Development, the legal proceedings were instigated against Stronway
Development on this matter in the High Court of Hong Kong on 15
April 2008.

As at the date hereof, the legal proceedings against Stronway
Development are still pending and there is no significant

development.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE RISK AND INTEREST RATE
RISK

The Group’s transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange
forward contracts to hedge against exchange rates fluctuations.
Foreign exchange risk arising from the normal course of operations is
considered to be minimal and the management will closely monitor
the fluctuation in the currency and take appropriate actions when
condition arises.

In terms of the interest rate risk exposures, the Group does not have
any significant interest rate risk as both the borrowings of the Group
and the interest rates currently remain at low levels.

EMPLOYEE AND EMOLUMENT POLICY
As at 31 March 2014, the Group employed 151 employees (2013:
222).

Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to
market terms and individual merits. Salaries are reviewed periodically
based on performance appraisal and other relevant factors. Staff
benefits plans maintained by the Group include medical insurance,
hospitalisation scheme, mandatory provident fund and share option
scheme. Employees in the PRC are remunerated according to the
prevailing market conditions in the locations of their employments.

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2014 (2013: HK$Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEENWRIN (&)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

None of the Directors is aware of any information which would
reasonably indicate that the Company is not, or was not, throughout
the year, in compliance with the code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)”) under the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the

Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), except the following deviations:

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The Company does not at present have a Chairman nor
a Chief Executive. Nevertheless, the main duties and responsibilities
of a Chairman and a Chief Executive are currently held by separate
individuals with written guidelines for the division of responsibilities
with a view to maintain an effective segregation of duties between
the management of the Board and the day-to-day management of
the Group’s business and operations. The Company will continue
to review the effectiveness of the Group's corporate governance
structure and consider the appointment of a Chairman of the
Board and a Chief Executive if candidates with suitable leadership,
knowledge, skills and experience can be identified within or outside
the Group.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, the
non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are
subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual general
meeting as specified in the Company’s bye-laws.

Further information is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
contained in annual report for the year ended 31 March 2014.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditors, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the
auditing, internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued) -

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made
to all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2014.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
to shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and professional
advisors for their support of the Company over the past year and to
sincerely thank the staff for their ongoing dedication and contribution
made in the year.

On behalf of the Board

Wong King Shiu, Daniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2014

* The English translation of Chinese names or words are for information
purpose only, and should not be regarded as the official English

translation of such Chinese names or words.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREBEAERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel, aged 54, joined the Board on 13
January 2012. Prior to that, Mr. Wong has been the vice president
of the Group since 2010. He is responsible for the overall strategic
management, development and marketing of the resources projects.
Mr. Wong has over 13 years of experience in natural resources
industry and served as an executive director in a various natural
resources company which is listed in Hong Kong. He also has
extensive experience in the management and development of natural
resources projects in China.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren, aged 57, joined the Board on 24
July 2006. He had been an executive director of the Company since
24 July 2006 and had been redesignated to non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 23 May 2008. Prior to that, Mr.
Ma served as an executive director and a company secretary of a
Hong Kong listed company for over 7 years. He has over 25 years of
accounting experience and is an associate member of both the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Chow Siu Ngor, aged 58, joined the Board on 30 April 2006.
He had been an independent non-executive director of the Company
since 30 April 2006 and had been redesignated to non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 20 November 2007. He is
a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow graduated from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1981 with an honors degree
in Social Science. He then obtained an honors degree in Laws from
the University of Birmingham in England in 1987. Mr. Chow was
admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1990
and has been in private practice since then. Currently, Mr. Chow is a
Partner of King & Wood Mallesons, Solicitors, Hong Kong. He serves
as an independent non-executive director of CCT Fortis Holdings
Limited (formerly known as CCT Telecom Holdings Limited), CCT Land
Holdings Limited (formerly known as CCT Tech International Limited)
and REXLot Holdings Limited, all of which are listed companies in
Hong Kong.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, aged 53, joined the Board on 13 February
2006. He is a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong
and a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong is a
fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Certified Public Accountants and
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He also serves as an independent non-executive
director of Sino Resources Group Limited, a listed company in Hong
Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, aged 47, joined the Board on 30 April 2006.
He holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration and a master
of science degree in Corporate Governance and Directorship. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Mr. Chan is a practicing certified public
accountant and has extensive experience in accounting, taxation,
financial management, corporate finance and corporate governance.
He is currently an executive director of Noble Century Investments
Holdings Limited and South East Group Limited, and an independent
non-executive director of Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited, China
Sandi Holdings Limited, Jun Yang Solar Power Investments Limited,
Media Asia Group Holdings Limited, New Times Energy Corporation
Limited (redesignated from non-executive director with effect from 18
May 2012) and U-RIGHT International Holdings Limited, all of which
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chan
was an executive director of Kong Sun Holdings Limited from February
2007 to November 2009 and from December 2011 to September
2013, and an independent non-executive director of Superb Summit
International Timber Company Limited (now renamed as Superb
Summit International Group Limited) from April 2007 to June 2010,
The Hong Kong Building and Loan Agency Limited from October 2009
to February 2011 and Richly Field China Development Limited from
February 2009 to August 2010, all of which are listed companies in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Hung Hing Man, aged 44, joined the Board on 31 March
2009. He holds a masters degree in Business Administration
from the University of Western Sydney. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and a member of the Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Hung is currently a proprietor of a
certified public accountants firm. He has over 17 years of working
experience in corporate finance, accounting, auditing and taxation
sectors. Mr. Hung was an independent non-executive director of
Eternity Investment Limited from May 2010 to November 2011,
and is currently an independent non-executive director of Madex
International (Holdings) Limited, all of which are listed companies in
Hong Kong.

BREEEE 47 R-TEAFNA=ZTEMAE
Ee - WHREIEEEEBTEMRAREREESES
BEEITBM -KAESSHMAGREBREHAR
M ASEERSE UREEBREBHFHFA
REeAMAee8 -REEAMESHAT REst-
M MBEEERE CEREMDEERIAHBLEE
KB -FRACHREERERAFTMEFEKER
BRARZHITEE URDMERDREEEGRA
ARBEZHERBERAR -BEHAGEENRES
BAR BEREEEEERAF  HRHAERERAD
AI(RZE——ZFRA+NBEFATESTAT) R
EBEEERERARZBLIIFNTES  ZEQF
REBBARSGAERARA LW -RELBR =TT
tHF_RAETTNF+-APEARZT——F+=
REZZ—=FhhAHPMATLERER AR ZMIT
BEE UR_ETLENAE T -TFNAHBEA
FEBBAREERAR (RBATERABEEEGRA
A) R-_ZTENFE+AE-_T——F_AHBAE
BEREEEFERAFAMR_ZEZNF _AE_T—F
FNAPHEAKBTRERBR AR ZEIIERNTE
FRERAHAEASLMAG -

=
=

AEXEE M RZZETAF=-A=+—HAMNA
EE @ o B University of Western Sydney L &
BETEN -FARBEFHTARGHIMAE FES
A RESHEECEFRSERABEASTAD
REEE - ALEBRAREHMBEEMZAEA
FERCERE S5t REEREBEATE#KE®17
FIRER - L EACR _E—ZEFRAE T ——
F+—AHEAXKERBREBR AR ZBMIEHRTT
EE EARAER (ER)ERARZBILIENITE
ERERRHAEBEB LM AR

Annual Report 2014 —Z—[UF4F% 1 5




Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lau Hok Yuk, aged 48, is a Company Secretary of the Company.
Mr. Lau holds a Master Degree of Business Administration from
the University of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom. He is a Fellow
Certified Public Accountant and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. He is also a Chartered
Financial Analyst in the United States of America, an associate
member of the Taxation Institution of Hong Kong as well as a
Certified Tax Advisor. Mr. Lau has over 25 years of working experience
in the areas of financial control, corporate finance, business
development and administration, legal and compliance, procurement
and logistics, trading, investor relationship and human resources.

Mr. Gu Zhong Xiang, aged 72, is the senior engineer of rare
resources division of the Group and is responsible for the sales and
development of rare earth products. He is a Professor-level Senior
Engineer. Mr. Gu graduated from Department of Modern Chemistry,
University of Science and Technology of China. He has over 42 years
of experience in natural resources industry and specialises in sales,
development and analysis for the rare earth products. He cooperated
with Bureau of Geology Survey on Non-ferrous Metal of Guangdong
Province (B A EBH E) /) in the inspection ion-absorbed
rare earths resources in the South China. He has involved in the
foundation of several rare earth refinery and processing enterprises
in Shaanxi Province and Sichuan Province of China, including a
Japanese-funded enterprise. During this period, Mr. Gu engaged in
rare earth processing technology development and product analysis
testing. He is also a standing director of BEFEE# L& (Shaanxi
Province Rare Earth Society).

Mr. Li Ming Dong, aged 51, is the senior engineer of rare resources
division of the Group and is responsible for the planning and
coordinating the production of the rare earth refinery business in
Xichang. Mr. Li graduated from Department of Chemistry, Peking
University. He has over 25 years of experience in natural resources
industry and specialises in operation and planning for the rare earth
refinery.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Good corporate governance has always been recognised as vital to
the Group’s success and to sustain development of the Group. We
commit ourselves to a high standard of corporate governance and
have devoted considerable efforts to identifying and formulating
corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices to
meet the code provisions (the “Code Provision(s)”) as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), that are
considered to be relevant to the Group, and has complied with most
of the Code Provisions for the time being in force throughout the year
under review save for certain deviations from the Code Provisions,
details of which will be explained in the relevant paragraphs in this
Report. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure that these continue to meet the requirements of
the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the "Directors”) are collectively
responsible for the oversight of the management of business and
affairs of the Group to the best interest of the shareholders of the
Company.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) currently comprises a total of six
Directors, with one Executive Director namely Mr. Wong King Shiu,
Daniel; two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ma Kwok Hung,
Warren and Mr. Chow Siu Ngor; and three Independent Non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and Mr.
Hung Hing Man. A list containing the names of the Directors and their
roles and functions is published on the websites of the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 14 to
15. To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships between
members of the Board.

Throughout the year under review, the Board at all times met the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules respectively relating to the appointment of at least three
Independent Non-executive Directors with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise and the Independent Non-
executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board.

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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All Independent Non-executive Directors are financially independent
from the Group. The Company confirmed with all Independent Non-
executive Directors as to their independence with reference to the
factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board is collectively responsible for formulating the Group's
overall strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance
of the Group, preparing and approving financial statements,
recommending the Directors’ appointment or re-appointment,
considering and approving material contracts and transactions (in
particular those may involve conflict of interests) as well as other
significant policy and financial matters. The Board also gives clear
directions as to the powers delegated to the management for the
day-to-day operation, management and administration functions of
the Group. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the management and the
Board has the full support of them to discharge its responsibilities.

There were six Board meetings and one general meeting held for the
year ended 31 March 2014. The following was an attendance record
of the Board meetings and general meeting during the year under

review:
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Number of Number of
Board general
meetings meetings
attended/held attended/held
b BT bR
Name of Directors BEERE EZEERAY BRAKERH
Executive Director HITESE
Wong King Shiu, Daniel m2K 6/6 11
Non-executive Directors FPITEE
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren 55 B 4 6/6 1/1
Chow Siu Ngor /& 6/6 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTEE
Wong Hoi Kuen =8E 6/6 1/1
Chan Chi Yuen PR R 6/6 1/1
Hung Hing Man LEX 6/6 1/1
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Directors have disclosed to the Company the number and nature
of offices held in other public companies or organisation and other
significant commitments in a timely manner and will provide updates
to the Company on any subsequent changes.

All Directors have been provided with monthly updates by the Group’s
management, giving a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Group's performance, position, recent developments and
prospects in sufficient detail to keep them abreast of the Group’s
affairs and facilitate them to discharge their duties under the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out

in writing.

The Company does not at present have a Chairman nor a Chief
Executive. Nevertheless, the main duties and responsibilities of
a Chairman and a Chief Executive are currently held by separate
individuals with written guidelines for the division of responsibilities
with a view to maintain an effective segregation of duties between
the management of the Board and the day-to-day management of the
Group's business and operations.

The Company will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group's
corporate governance structure and consider the appointment of
a Chairman of the Board and a Chief Executive if candidates with
suitable leadership, knowledge, skills and experience can be identified
within or outside the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code Provision A.4.1 requires that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, the
non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are
subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual general
meeting as specified in the Company’s bye-laws.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established relevant board committees to assist in
discharging its responsibilities.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 27 March 2012.
It currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Hung Hing Man (as Chairman), Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen and
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and one Executive Director namely Mr. Wong King
Shiu, Daniel.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates
for directorship, appointment or re-appointment and succession
of Directors, and assessing the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors. Details of the duties and powers of the
Nomination Committee are set out in its written terms of reference
which has been revised during the year under review in line with the
amendment of the CG Code on board diversity and are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy in August 2013.
The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, and sees board diversity is an essential element in
achieving a sustainable and balanced development. In reviewing
Board composition, the Nomination Committee will consider balance
of a number of factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on merit,
having due regard to the overall effective function of the Board as a

whole.

At present, the Nomination Committee has not set any measurable
objectives to implement the board diversity policy. However, it will
consider and review the board diversity policy and set any measurable

objectives from time to time.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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There were two Nomination Committee meetings held for the year HE-_T—NF=-A=+—HILFE ? XEBEY

ended 31 March 2014. The following was an attendance record of BITMABHE - UTARDBEFERRITZIREEZE
the Nomination Committee meetings held during the year under EERIOFELE:

review:

Number of

meetings

attended/held

Nomination Committee Members REZEENKE HEBITERERE

Hung Hing Man (Chairman) BX (£/E) 2/2

Wong Hoi Kuen ExﬁE 2/2

Chan Chi Yuen R &R 2/2

Wong King Shiu, Daniel maIK 2/2

During the year under review, work performed by the Nomination REBEFERN REZE8QETZIEREON2RES

Committee included (i) determining the policy for the nomination HiE ANBRAK (BERE MERER) BT

of Directors with reference to the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (ii)
reviewing the annual confirmation of independence submitted
by the Independent Non-executive Directors and assessing their
independence; and (iii) adopting of a policy concerning diversity of
board members in accordance with the new Code Provision A.5.6
in the revised CG Code which came into effect on 1 September
2013. Nomination procedures and the process and criteria will be
determined by the Nomination Committee should there be the need

to select and recommend candidates for directorship.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 July 2006.
It currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (as Chairman), Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen and
Mr. Hung Hing Man and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Chow
Siu Ngor.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the management’s remuneration proposals, and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management. Details of the duties and powers of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its written terms of reference which are

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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There was one Remuneration Committee meeting held for the year HE-_T—NF=A=+—HIEFE HFHZESZ

ended 31 March 2014. The following was an attendance record of BII—RBR -UTAREBEFERNRITZHMES
the Remuneration Committee meeting held during the year under EERIHFLE:

review:

Number of

meetings

attended/held

Remuneration Committee Members FHEEERE HE " BITEERK

Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) PREE (FE) 1/1

Wong Hoi Kuen =81 1/1

Hung Hing Man LEX 11

Chow Siu Ngor ;N E 11

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will
review the proposals made by the management on the remuneration
of individual Executive Director and senior management, and make
recommendations to the Board. The Board will have final authority
to approve the recommendations made by the Remuneration

Committee.

During the year under review, work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included (i) assessing performance of Executive Director
and senior management and, where applicable, approving their
terms of services including the Directors’ fees and the emoluments
of Executive Directors; and (ii) reviewing and determining on policy
and structure of the remuneration package of Directors and senior
management.

The remuneration packages of the Board for the year ended 31
March 2014 had been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
and approved by the Board by taking into consideration factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment,
responsibility, market conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration. Details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors for the year under review are
set out in note 10 to the financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
annual remuneration of the members of the senior management by

band for the year ended 31 March 2014 are as follows:

tXER

5 (&)

BRECETAUZTAEXEBISKE aBREEBAS
REBEE-_ZT—WNF=ZA=Z+—BHLFEZFHFSEHRF
I

Number of
employees
EE A"
HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 T L5 1,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001,8 7t £2,000,000/% 7T 1
3
Audit Committee EREEE

The Audit Committee was established on 26 March 1999. It currently BERZEER - NMNMNF=ZARZ+NBKL REH
consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. CRBUFNTEFEEELE (FR) BREREE

Wong Hoi Kuen (as Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and Mr. Hung Hing MILBEXEEAR —BIERNTESH/NELEAMN-
Man and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Chow Siu Ngor. The ZEEKREVAEBEESEER mELSTREH

committee members possess appropriate professional qualifications,
business or accounting and related financial management expertise
and experience to provide relevant advice and recommendations to
the Company.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the financial reporting and internal control principles of
the Company, and assisting the Board to fulfill its responsibility over
the audit. Details of the duties and powers of the Audit Committee
are set out in its written terms of reference which are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties which include: (i) to develop and review the
Company's policies and practices on corporate governance; (ii)
to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; (iii) to review
and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) to develop, review and
monitor the code of conduct and compliance (if any) applicable to the
Directors and employees; and (v) to review the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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There were three Audit Committee meetings held for the year ended HE-_T—NF=A=1+—HILFE FZZEg

31 March 2014, two of which were held with the external auditor. BITZRAEHE ERMREINEZBAN LR EIT-LAT
The following was an attendance record of the Audit Committee AREBEFENRT 2 EREZEggR 2 HFLk:

meetings held during the year under review:

Number of

meetings

attended/held

Audit Committee Members ERZEEERE HE " BITEERK

Wong Hoi Kuen (Chairman) =G (EE) 3/3

Chan Chi Yuen R &R 3/3

Hung Hing Man LEX 3/3

Chow Siu Ngor ;N E 3/3

The Audit Committee reviewed the independence and objectivity of
the external auditor, the scope of audit services and related audit fees
payable to the external auditor for the Board’s approval. The Audit
Committee met and discussed with the external auditor on their audit
strategy and assessment of the sufficiency of the internal control of
the Group.

During the year under review, work performed by the Audit
Committee included (i) reviewing the audited annual results and the
unaudited interim results of the Group; (ii) reviewing the compliance
and internal audit reports and the compliance and corporate
governance issues of the Group; and (iii) discussing with external
auditor the audit planning work (including the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations) in respect of the audit of the
annual results of the Group.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection and appointment, resignation or dismissal
of the external auditor during the year under review.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration payable to the
Company’s external auditor, Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, Certified
Public Accountants (Practising), represents the provision of audit fees
for statutory audit and other non-statutory audit services amounting
to approximately HK$1,300,000 and HK$30,000 respectively.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

RETIREMENT AND APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR

The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2014 were audited by
Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan & Chan (“THKC") whose term of office
will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. THKC will retire as auditor of the Company with effect
from the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting and
will not offer itself for re-appointment. THKC has confirmed that
there are no matters in connection with its retirement that need to
be brought to the attention of the Shareholders. Due to the internal
corporate structure reorganisation of THKC, part of its practice has
been reorganised under Ting Ho Kwan & Chan CPA Limited (“THKC
CPA Ltd.”). THKC CPA Ltd. was incorporated in 1998 and registered
as corporate practice in 2013 with the partners of THKC being the
directors of THKC CPA Ltd.. The management of THKC CPA Ltd. is
also the same as THKC. It is in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole if the auditor shall continue to serve the
Company under the capacity of THKC CPA Ltd..

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that THKC CPA
Ltd. be nominated for appointment as the auditor of the Company
to fill the vacancy arising from the retirement of THKC at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2014, the Directors have adopted
suitable accounting policies which are pertinent to its operations and
relevant to the financial statements, made judgments and estimates
that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the financial
statements on the going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements and
those for the auditor to the shareholders of the Company are set out
on page 40.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

To protect its assets and to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the
financial information that the Company employs in its business or
releases to the public, the Company conducts regular reviews of the
effectiveness of the Group's internal controls. The scope of these
reviews includes, among others, finance, operations, regulation
compliance and risk management.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company has adopted the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “"Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
the code for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Every newly appointed Director will be given a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on his/her first appointment so as to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and of his/her duties, responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are continuously updated on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by them.

The Directors are committed to comply with Code Provision A.6.5
of the CG Code on directors’ training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution to the
Board will be informed and relevant.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

According to the records provided by the Directors to the Company
pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities during the
year under review. The individual training record of each Director for
the year ended 31 March 2014 is summarised below:

Governance/Updates on Laws,

Directors’ duties and
responsibilities/Corporate

Rules and Regulations

N\
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REREERBELETHRARARHR 2L 28BS
FERNEDBEFASEBEEIHEIXEREY -BE
TE-NOE=A=+-HLFEZEEMER Z2MER
Bl st T

Business related/
Accounting/Financial/
Management or
other professional skills

ESCRERRE %88/ ES 2:1Ve -5 ¢ 74
EB BRI KRR GI R &R EERHMEER Y
Attending Attending
Reading seminars/ In-house Reading seminars/
materials  conferences briefings materials  conferences
HEHRNE/ HEHAE
B A k] ESCE BaE AR kS
Executive Director HiTEE
Wong King Shiu, Daniel Bk v v/ v / v
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren e v/ v/ v/ v/ v
Chow Siu Ngor B0 E v/ v/ v v/ v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FE#77E E
Wong Hoi Kuen G v v v v v
Chan Chi Yuen REE v/ v/ v/ v v
Hung Hing Man FLEX v/ v/ v v/ v
DIRECTORS' LIABILITIES INSURANCE EECEHERR

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in respect of
potential legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities of the Group pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8 of the CG
Code. Such directors’ liability insurance will be reviewed and renewed
annually.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2014, no claim has been made
against the Directors.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Lau Hok Yuk, who was
appointed by the Board on 28 May 2013.

During the year under review, Mr. Lau has undertaken sufficient hours
of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the
Company’s bye-laws 58, the shareholder(s) of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company with the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may request the Board to convene a special
general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company at Clarendon House, Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda for the attention of the Company Secretary and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the said date.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Other shareholders’ enquiries can be directed in writing with contact
details (including name, address, telephone number and email
address) to the principal office of the Company at Suite 2602, 26/F,,
Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed
at general meetings. Proposals shall be directed in writing with
contact details (including name, address, telephone number and email
address) to the principal office of the Company at Suite 2602, 26/F,
Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are
available on the website of the Company.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals are
appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for approval
at the next general meeting to be convened by the Board.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company communicates with its shareholders and investors
through various channels including publication of interim and annual
reports, announcements, circulars, press releases and other corporate
communications and publications available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
Company encourages their participation through general meetings
where the Shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board,
and to exercise their right to vote at meetings.

To promote the communication between the Company and
its shareholders, the Company has established a shareholders’
communication policy which shall be reviewed on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing regulatory
and other requirements.

An up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum of
Association and Company's bye-laws is published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. There have been no changes
to such constitutional documents during the year under review.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its

principal subsidiaries are set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 March 2014
are set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2014 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 42.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2014 are set out in note 31 to the financial

statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2014 are set out in note 33 to the
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2014 are set out in note 16 to
the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregate turnover attributable
to the Group's five largest customers were approximately 86% of
the Group's turnover for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 46%. Purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 89% of the
total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 86%.

None of the Directors, or any of their associates or any other
shareholders, which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest suppliers during the year

under review.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year under review and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Director:
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Hung Hing Man

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 87(2), Mr. Ma Kwok
Hung, Warren and Mr. Hung Hing Man will respectively retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election and re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract, which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts to which the Company, its holding companies, its
fellow subsidiaries or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year

under review or at any time during the year under review.

5
-
e

Directors’ Report (continued) -

EEeHE (&)

B=
REBFEARBEAREERA L ARAZEEN
T

HITEE:
mERKELE

FPITEE:
HEELE
PFPNEXRE

BUIFRTESE
=GRS
REELE
LEXEE

RBARR ZREMABESTOG SEBELERILE
XEEBD R EERRBFAG LRESE ER
FEERMAFEEE RS-

ES2BRBEEHN

BRREERRBFRE LEENEFTZEETHETL
ARAREEAEMMBERRMTELEE (—REER
BRI AITEER —F AR IEZ RERRB AL -

BEEaNES
REBEFEARKIRBEFEATMRR BEFE
ERARR  EZRAR - H R/ RS A 7 R EAEAN
BARRINTMEEREEARTZAN -

Annual Report 2014 —Z—[UF4F% 3 1



Directors’ Report (continued)

EEeHE (&)

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

As at 31 March 2014, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executives and their associates in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations,
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (“Shares”) in
the Company

EERFETHRABZHES
RIZE-—MFZA=1T—H EFERTETHAER
BEZBBEALRARE REBBEE 2B HE
B EH TR CHERNRRRER S RSB G
FINGFEZELM EZBmskE  RRIBRES
AIEAME AR R 2 RgORR T

REQBEREEINETEER (RO 2HFE

Percentage of the

Number of issued share capital

Name of Director Type of interest Shares held of the Company

LER NN

EspnE = E R FEEROEE ERTREABDL

Wong King Shiu, Daniel Beneficial owner 1,200,000 0.03%
=5 =B A

Ma Kwok Hung, Warren Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.07%
5B EmBEAA

Chow Siu Ngor Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.06%
HNNE =B A

Chan Chi Yuen Beneficial owner 2,500,000 0.06%

REE BEHBEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, none of the Directors
or chief executives, nor their associates, had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

BEXHEEN R-E-—NOF=A=+—H EERX
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HERD R ESFTEARBEREES LA EEIE
32MFAFE 2 ERM EZEMBEIAR  HIREE
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 22 August 2011, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2011 Scheme”) which will expire on 21 August 2021. The
primary purpose of the 2011 Scheme is to provide incentives
or reward to the eligible persons for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group. Under the
2011 Scheme and subject to its terms and conditions, the Board may
at its discretion offer to any eligible employee, director, or consultant,
agent, supplier, customer or contractor of the Group options to
subscribe for shares in the Company. Such offer shall be open for
acceptance on a day specified in the letter of grant which shall be
no longer than 30 days from the date of the letter of grant. The
share options shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted
and taken effect when the duplicate letter of grant is signed by
the eligible person and returned to the Company together with a
remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1 for each acceptance of
grant of the share options.

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, which shall be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares on the date of
offer, (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer, and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company's shares.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding vested or unvested options granted and
yet to be exercised under the 2011 Scheme and any other schemes
must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue from time to time (the “Overriding Limit").

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the 2011 Scheme and any
other schemes shall not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of shareholders’ approval of the 2011 Scheme
(the "Scheme Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding Limit,
the Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general meeting, provided that the
Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of issued shares as at the date of shareholders’ approval of
the refreshment.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Directors’ Report (continued)

EEeHE (&)

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued) in respect
of which options may be granted under the 2011 Scheme and any
other schemes to any eligible person in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue,
unless a shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors. Where
share options are proposed to be granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director, or any of their respective
associates, and the grant would result in the aggregate of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted or to
be granted under the 2011 Scheme and any other schemes to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of offer
of the relevant share options to (i) represent in aggregate over 0.1%
of the total number of issued shares for the time being; and (ii) have
an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares, in excess
of HK$5,000,000, the proposed grant shall be subject to the approval
of the shareholders in general meeting with the connected persons
abstaining from voting in favour.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2011 Scheme during such period as may be determined by the board
of directors (which shall not be more than 10 years commencing on
the date on which the share option is granted and accepted). Unless
otherwise determined by the Board, there is no minimum period for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised. Subject
to early termination by the Company in general meeting or the Board,
the 2011 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on its date of adoption.

No share option has been granted during the year ended 31 March
2014. As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares
available for issue upon exercise of the options outstanding under the
2011 Scheme was 284,000,000 Shares (representing 6.61% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of this report).
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The following table discloses details of the movements in the share

Directors’ Report (continued)
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TEEERE-_Z——FHRH2BRERBE

options granted under the 2011 Scheme during the year ended 31 T-NE=ZA=+—HLFEZEHFE-
March 2014.
Number of options
BREHE
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Date of Exercise
1 April during during during 31 March  offer to grant price Exercisable
Category of participant 2013 the year the year the year 2014 options per share period
R® R®
—E-=f “E-QNE BRE
SHEARR mA-H FREH FRITHE ER&¥ ZR=+-H REBH BROEE ATESE
HK$
BT
Employees 99,000,000 - - - 99,000,000 27.07.2012 0.163  27.07.2012 -
EE 26.07.2014
Consultants and 185,000,000 - - - 185,000,000 27.07.2012 0.163 27.07.2012 -
other eligible participants 26.07.2014
BERRAMSAERZEA
Total 85 284,000,000 - - - 284,000,000

At 31 March 2014, no Directors had any interests in options to
subscribe for shares of the Company.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was
the Company, its holding companies, its fellow subsidiaries or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

REIZB-—MF=A=+—H BEEFRITRBALQ

Bty z A P A (R

BEROHEZ 2L

B EXWEESN Ane HEBRAR HRRXHEAR
ASAEEANEARNREBEFENGE2EBERLHE
HLBESEUHERBEARRREAEAMEARE Z BN

Annual Report 2014 —Z—PUFF

35




Directors’ Report (continued)
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
At 31 March 2014, the interests or short positions of the following

TERRZERS

RIF-—NF=ZA=+—H BAQFAREZEF &
BEGPIFEBeIHRRERTFEZERMAEE THIA
T (BRARRESEHETEZTHRABIN RARR KD
HRROhEEZBEIOARENT

parties (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336

of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares in the RELXTRBREBRGZFR
Company

Percentage of

Number of the issued

Number of underlying share capital

Name of shareholder Type of interest Share held Shares held Total of the Company

FiEEHE BEDH

BRRAR HE L Ep] FisERAEE RO#HA @t BRTREADL

Chan How Chung, Victor Beneficial owner/interest of 918,147,585 486,561,631 1,404,709,216 32.68%
S controlled corporation (Note 1)
BRmaA/ZHEEER (Hrt1)

Mega Market Assets Limited ~ Beneficial owner 665,097,585 486,561,631 1,151,659,216 26.79%
EXHEBA (Note 2)
(Ht:22)

Li Wing Sang Beneficial owner/interest of 600,000,000 - 600,000,000 13.96%
FKAE controlled corporation (Note 3)
BRmaA/ZHEEER (H1:#3)

Wong Ngai Deemed 600,000,000 - 600,000,000 13.96%
B RIEREE#ER (Note 4)
(Kiit4)

Hondex Investments Limited ~ Beneficial owner 500,000,000 - 500,000,000 11.63%
ExlEAA (Note 5)
(Ht:t5)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Chan How Chung, Victor has a personal interest in 157,550,000
Shares, and is taken to be interested in (i) 665,097,585 Shares and
486,561,631 underlying Shares held by Mega Market Assets Limited; and
(i) 95,500,000 Shares held by Kingly Profits Corporation. Kingly Profits
Corporation is wholly owned by Smart Ease Corporation, which in turn, is
wholly owned by Mr. Chan.

2. Mega Market Assets Limited is interested in 665,097,585 Shares and
486,561,631 underlying Shares derived from the convertible note in the
principal amount of HK$105,000,000 issued by the Company at the
Adjusted Conversion Price of HK$0.2158 per Share. Mega Market Assets
Limited is beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Chan How Chung, Victor.
These interests have been included in the interests held by Mr. Chan
disclosed in this section.

3. Mr. Li Wing Sang has a personal interest in 100,000,000 Shares, and is
taken to be interested in 500,000,000 Shares held by Hondex Investments
Limited. Hondex Investments Limited is beneficially wholly owned by Mr.
Li.

4. Ms. Wong Ngai is the spouse of Mr. Li Wing Sang, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and therefore is deemed to be interested
in the 600,000,000 Shares which are beneficially owned by Mr. Li. These
interests have been included in the interests held by Mr. Li disclosed in
this section.

5. Hondex Investments Limited is beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Li Wing
Sang. These interests have been included in the interests held by Mr. Li
disclosed in this section.

Save as disclosed above, the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 March 2014, the
Company had not been notified of any other person who had an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Directors’ Report (continued)
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY"’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2014, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
listed securities.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In October 2011, the Company issued the 1% unsecured convertible
note to Mega Market Assets Limited with principal amount of
HK$105,000,000 in a term of 3 years (the “Convertible Note"). The
issue of the Convertible Note and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constituted non-exempt connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the transactions are set
out in the Company’s 2012 Annual Report.

Particular of other transactions with related parties of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2014 are set out in note 39 to the
financial statements. Those transactions were exempted connected
transactions for the Company or did not fall under the definition
of "connect transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirement in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2014 are set out in notes 28 and 29 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 160.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees of the Company, details of which are
set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Particulars of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out
in note 40 to the financial statements.

PRE-EXEMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 17 to 29.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2014.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2014 were audited by Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan &
Chan whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. Due to the internal corporate
structure reorganisation of Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan & Chan, part
of its practice has been reorganised under Ting Ho Kwan & Chan
CPA Limited. Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan & Chan will retire as auditor of
the Company with effect from the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting and will not offer itself for re-appointment.
An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to appoint Ting Ho Kwan & Chan
CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy arising
from the retirement of Messrs. Ting Ho Kwan & Chan.

On behalf of the Board

Wong King Shiu, Daniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2014
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & B ®R S

TING HO KWAN & CHAN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

9th Floor, Tung Ning Building
249-253 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA GAMMA GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Gamma Group Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 42 to 159,
which comprise the consolidated and the Company balance sheets
as at 31 March 2014, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial

statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s presentation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at
31 March 2014 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
9/F., Tung Ning Building,

249-253 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

Hong Kong, 27 June 2014
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Consolidated Income Statement

o= N

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—2-mF —E=F
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
=3 FHETT FET
Turnover ] 7 41,018 48,523
Other revenue and gains, net EA g A Rz - F 58 7 1,078 8,644
42,096 57,167
Cost of sales 5 & B A 9 (41,358) (52,329)
Impairment loss on BVEEZREER
intangible asset 19 - (82,346)
Administrative expenses THRER (25,201) (91,054)
Loss from operations EIEEE (24,463) (168,562)
Finance costs A& KR 8 (30,294) (48,289)
Loss before taxation B 150 AT 5 48 9 (54,757) (216,851)
Taxation I8 11 34 2,409
Loss for the year AEEER (54,723) (214,442)
Loss attributable to: RTATEAES:
Equity shareholders of AT E @R
the Company 12 (51,471) (143,475)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R M A (3,252) (70,967)
(54,723) (214,442)
Loss per share for loss AAREERRELBEREZ
attributable to equity sRER
shareholders of the Company 14
Basic and diluted ERR#ES (1.27) centsfl (4.23) centsfll
The notes on pages 50 to 159 are an integral part of these HRESORE1S9B W AL SLREMBRE 2 —
consolidated financial statements. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REETEWE R

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

2014 2013
—E—MmF —E—=fF
NOTE HK$000 HK$'000
M it FET FET
Loss for the year EEERHE (54,723) (214,442)
Other comprehensive H#2EBA (ZH):
income/(expense):
Item that may be reclassified HEgnmggamoEaBa A
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation 12 E & SN} 8 A 5 B % &
of financial statements of EXCZERER
overseas subsidiaries — net —BEHEEFE
movement in exchange reserve 13 10,482 (604)
Total comprehensive expense AFEETES HBE
for the year (44,241) (215,046)
Attributable to: RTALTEA:
Equity shareholders of RR ARSI
the Company (43,864) (144,374)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R & (377) (70,672)
Total comprehensive expense AFEETEY BB
for the year (44,241) (215,046)

The notes on pages 50 to 159 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

REEEREBX

At 31 March 2014 R=-ZT—W&=A=+—H

2014 2013
—E-mEF —F-=F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
k23 FET FET
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BE R&E 16 22,146 26,875
Land use rights T e AR 17 11,436 11,711
Goodwill S 18 23,592 23,592
57,174 62,178
Current Assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables EWE S & EMERIEA 23 56,862 57,333
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEFABEZECHEE
through profit or loss 24 19,604 38,845
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEHEIER 25 33,453 56,437
109,919 152,615
Assets classified as held for sale NEARIELEZEE 15 758,175 735,204
868,094 887,819
Current Liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables ERNE S REAMIKIE 26 29,221 37,405
Bank and other borrowings HITREMEE 28 10,063 -
Convertible note R EE 29 101,272 -
Liabilities directly associated HoOBERBELEZ
with the assets classified EEEZEBCBE
as held for sale 15 513,292 538,063
Current taxation R HR B 18 21 -
653,869 575,468
Net Current Assets REBEEFE 214,225 312,351
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

REEEREBER (&)

At 31 March 2014 RZZT—MNF=A=+—H

2014 2013
—E—MmF —E—=fF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
M it FETT FET
Non-current Liabilities EREBAEE
Amount due to a non- JE A< B /B8 2 @) 3F 22 iR A% R k18
controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary 27 21,839 21,162
Bank and other borrowings WITREMEE 28 52,044 66,667
Convertible note A] AR R 1% 29 - 94,823
Deferred taxation IRAER A 30 1,337 1,323
75,220 183,975
Net Assets EEFME 196,179 190,554
Equity s
Capital and reserves AT RSB REMN
attributable to the BEXAREE:
Company’s equity
shareholders:
Share capital [N 31 42,987 37,987
Reserves ff# 48 (25,035) (26,037)
17,952 11,950
Non-controlling interests FEIEMR A 178,227 178,604
Total Equity ERBE 196,179 190,554
The financial statements on pages 42 to 159 were approved and EFEER_T—NFAATERIEREER R
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2014 and FENEFIS0B W BRER UEUATATHRERES
are signed on its behalf by: =5
Wong King Shiu, Daniel Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
BEK BEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
Ea EEa

X

RESOEFISIOBAZMAR/UEGAMBREKRZ —

)

The notes on pages 50 to 159 are an integral part of these

o

=
=

consolidated financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

EERBR

At 31 March 2014 R=-ZT—W&=A=+—H

2014 2013
—E—mF —E-=F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 FET FET
Non-current Assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WERZE 16 59 104
Interests in subsidiaries REB AR 2= 20 69,457 68,868
69,516 68,972
Current Assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U Bt B A R FIB 20 105,004 -
Other receivables H b jE W IR 18 23 104 111
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBELEEEE 25 3,092 53,212
108,200 53,323
Current Liabilities REBAE
Other payables H h fE T BRI 26 3,215 6,626
Convertible note AR EE 29 101,272 -
104,487 6,626
Net Current Assets RBEEFE 3,713 46,697
Non-current Liabilities ERBARE
Other borrowings HMmEE 28 18,544 -
Convertible note R EE 29 - 94,823
18,544 94,823
Net Assets EERE 54,685 20,846
Capital and Reserves EXREE
Share capital [N 31 42,987 37,987
Reserves & 33 11,698 (17,141)
Total Equity DB 54,685 20,846
Wong King Shiu, Daniel Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
BERK EEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE EE
The notes on pages 50 to 159 are an integral part of these financial BRESORENS9B 2 Wi AL EHGREaMBHRER 2 —
statements. o1 e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equi
hRERaEEE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARARERREL
Share Capital ~ Convertible Share Non-
Share  premium  redemption note options  Exchange Special  Contributed ~ Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve surplus losses Total interests Total
BARE TRREE
Bx  ROEER L BE BRERE EARE RARE  HABR  RIER 8%  FERER 3]
HKS 000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
FiEr FET FET FET FET 73 iz 23 T TEr TiEr FET FET
Balance at 1 April 2012 R-E-EWA-HzH5% 33,737 656,097 13,878 18,352 1,606 10,114 78,176 684,966 (1,385,789) mas7 249,276 360,413
Loss for the year FEERE - - - - - - - — (3475 (143475)  (10,967) (214442
Other comprehensive (expense) income Eh2E () ha - - - - - (899) - - - (899) 295 (604)
Total comprehensive expense 2ENLEE - - - - - (899) - - (3475) (144374 (70672)  (215,046)
Issue of shares ARG 4,200 35,875 - - - - - - - 40,075 - 40,075
Share options granted REBRE - - - - 4532 - - - - 4532 - 4532
Exercise of share options EERE 50 664 - - (134) - - - - 580 - 580
Transfer on lapse of share options BREAREES - - - - (1472) - - - 1412 - - -
Total contributions and distributions HHRARLEE 4250 36,539 - - 2926 - - - 1472 45,187 - 45,187
Total transactions with owners AARABEAZRHEE
of the Company 4,250 36,539 - - 2,926 - - - 1472 45187 - 45,187
Balance at 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 HZF-=%=A=1-HR
“E-ENA-AzEH 37,987 692,636 13,878 18,352 4,532 9215 78,176 684,966 (1,527,792) 11,950 178,604 190,554
Loss for the year FERER - - - - - - - - (51471 (61471) (3252 (4723)
Other comprehensive income Eh2ENE - - - - - 7,607 - - - 7,607 2875 10482
Total comprehensive (expense) income 2E () hEEE - - - - - 7,607 - - (51471)  (43,864) B ()
Issue of shares ARG 5,000 44,866 - - - - - - - 49,866 - 49,866
Total contributions and transactions with HHREARTREALRS
owners of the Company k) 5,000 44,866 - - - - - - - 49,866 - 49,866
Balance at 31 March 2014 RZB-BE=A=1-A2
g8 42,987 737,502 13,878 18,352 4,532 16,822 18,176 684,966 (1,579,263) 17,952 178,221 196,179
The notes on pages 50 to 159 are an integral part of these HRESOEE1S9B 2T AN SRATBHRER L —
consolidated financial statements. 15 e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2014 2013
—E-IF —ET—=fF
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
Bt i FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES B
Loss from operations CiERBIE (24,463) (168,562)
Adjustments for: KTHEEAE:
Interest income B A 7 (906) (34)
Dividend income & 8 A 7 (734) (782)
Depreciation of property, ME - -BELZETE
plant and equipment 9 5,216 13,146
Amortisation of intangible asset mEEEH#E 9 - 50,364
Amortisation of land use rights b {5 R A 8 9 495 598
Loss on disposal of property, HEVME - BERREZER
plant and equipment 9 50 -
Write-down of inventories O REN = 9 2,066 -
Impairment loss on intangible asset B EEZRERIE - 82,346
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMW B ARz W 7 - (1,656)
Net unrealised losses on financial BRAFEFABREZ
assets at fair value through TMEELAZREEFE
profit or loss 7 4,072 6,201
Share-based payment ARGt B B 2 PR - 4,532
Exchange differences IEH =% 6,872 (534)
Operating cash outflows EEESEPAZRERERE
before movements in
working capital (7,332) (14,381)
Decrease in inventories FER D 3,765 7,743
Increase in trade and FEWE 5 K H b AR IE3E AN
other receivables (14,197) (30,976)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets EAFEFABZZEMEE
at fair value through profit or loss B () 15,169 (5,440)
Decrease in properties held BELEMERD
for sale - 9,021
Increase/(decrease) in trade and ENESREMIRIE
other payables #m, Crd) 4,840 (30)
CASH GENERATED FROM/ RETEHHMB/ (FA)ARS
(USED IN) OPERATION 2,245 (34,063)
PRC tax paid 21 B IR (98) (1,038)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ REEHMB (FA)
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFHE 2,147 (35,101)
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Consolidated Statement oF Cash Flows (continued)

= Ba

B &)

B R (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—NF=A=+—HBIEFE
2014 2013
—E—NmF —E—=F
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
Bt i FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received 2 A S 7 906 34
Dividend received 2R S 7 734 782
Payment for the purchase of property, BEWE  WE M&REZ K
plant and equipment 16 (51) (10,671)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BE RREZMSHRIE
plant and equipment 19 -
Addition of properties under RNEBERPWE
development - (25)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries &K B R G 258 34 - 42,837
NET CASH GENERATED FROM BEFHFBREFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 1,608 32,957
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEED
Proceeds on exercise of share options 77 f& J& 4% ~ 15 5k 1A - 580
Proceeds on issue of shares BATIR D 2 FT 1S 18 - 40,075
Net proceeds on issue of ?'x TRERBEZMEREFHE
placing notes 18,457 -
Advance from a non-controlling D=L NG E Sl S LT
shareholder of a subsidiary 677 832
New bank borrowing raised ILRITIEE - 9,877
Repayment of bank and other BERITRAEMEER
borrowings (44,000) (9,876)
Transaction cost on capitalisation of ~ HEMEEBE AL Z X FRA
other borrowings (134)
Interest paid 2AFE (1,927) (1,490)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED BMEED (A FBRSERE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (26,927) 39,998
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%%ﬁlﬁﬁ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W) s (23,172) 37,854
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHOZRERAESEHEER
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 56,638 18,774
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ExgnroE
RATE CHANGES 60 10
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZAERASEHEEE
AT END OF THE YEAR 25 33,526 56,638
The notes on pages 50 to 159 are an integral part of these HRFESOEF1S9B 2T AL EGRATBRE L —
consolidated financial statements. B e
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Notes to the Financial Statements

8

% &R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

50

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The registered
office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business of the Group is located at Suite 2602, 26/F., Sino Plaza,
255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
43.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS"), which also include Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS") and Interpretations (“Int”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the predecessor Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial assets which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

—mER
ARANREREEMA L BREERAT
HRGEEEBARHHRERAF (B
IS

KRR BEEER A A - M EEZ»
Clarendon House, Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda e ARE B = Z & X & R
& &S & 147 8255-2575 5 M E 52612
2602E - H X ZWB AR 2 £ Z X5 H AN
F43 -

MBHBREREE

AEBZGAEMBRRDZBHBFEGMA
S([BEGMAG ) EH2BEBRBREE
Al ([BBMBHREER ] TRESESAER
(IBtgstEN D R2B([RE])) BERQ
REARAREEREELAGIZHEREM
- USHBRERNTEBEREIIAER
REABHFLETRANZERBRERE-BETEH
BEDRAFEARN LEEEFBRERGOE
RIS R R

REHEFTEEEYBMERAN U BRRER
EERAETHREHAE AR EE2ETHE
REBAEESHRRBETEREHE S -




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group as

follows:

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial

MBHREREREE (F)

FAEGHMAGCAME TRARBE A H
MEREMZ AT RRIERT B AN B HREEA:

ERAMBRELED FEUBREERNFEIRZ

Instruments: Disclosures — E7% Bi BRE-HESREER
Offsetting Financial Assets and (BETA) TEREE
Financial Liabilities
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements BRUBEREEN GAEVBERE
£105%
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements ERUBREEDN BATH
ENRE
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other BRUBREEN BEREMER ER
Entities F125%
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS EETEREELN FEMBEREENFE105%

HKFRS 12 Amendments

15 R BB B35 — @R
BREEAE
125 (BETA)
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement BRUBEREEN ATEHE
F13%
HKAS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 1 ARG ER B ENS IR IPERRZ
Presentation of Financial E15% 25 2T - B e Eks
Statements — Presentation of (B3I A) EHZZ5
Items of Other Comprehensive
Income
HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits ARG ER EERH
E19%
(Z2——%)
HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements ARG ER BuUBB®RE
E27%
(Z2——%)
HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint ARG ER REEARIREEREZIRE
Ventures F285%
(Z2——%)
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of —EENEE RZE-—_F RABEMBZEZEER
2009-2011 Cycle HKFRSs issued in June 2012 RS FBEREEUBIAR
2 FEYE

11 and HKFRS 12 - Transition
Guidance

Note 4 summarise the accounting policies of the Group. The

F105% BBY
BREES

MIRTaBil R @2 Rt B -

BREMBRELNENRR
BREMBREERE 122

AN & [ 3 4 E A

RASE AL R ER 2 T ERIH2E - IR
NP E SN RANFE R LR AT KBRS
ERMBRESENHAREARAEFERBESF
EZHBRAERMKRAR,SiFa M BERERAEN
ZHREERRAVEEATE-

Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period. Except
for as described below, the application of the above new or
revised HKFRS in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBBERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZ-_T—NF=A=+—HILFE
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2.
(continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRS

MBEBREREE (F)

w

Rz EHT REETRENBRELEN 2

52

are summarised as follows:

EXEBIWT

(a) Amendments to HKAS 1 (a) BBEFEAF1HE BT
The amendments require entities to present separately ZEEFRE ERaETHREZBELT
the items of other comprehensive income that would ERERHBRIEETPEEEm A M
be reclassified to profit or loss in the future if certain iﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ HKRTEEMHHEEZER
conditions are met from those that would never be ZEMEEBEEESHAZ5 Bt K
reclassified to profit or loss. The presentation of other SEEEHRMBERENGE B REM
comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of PHKERP2IEMEEBRE 2 TR o
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in these AN REEDREREARERE [WH
financial statements has been modified accordingly. FIR[2EKER] TERYFFERESP
In addition, the Group has still chosen to use the FERZEE J%lAZ%ﬂTE Eakl Rk
existing titles of “income statement” and “statement of [E 2 & H A 2 W s &
comprehensive income” instead of using the new titles of
“statement of profit or loss” and “statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income” as introduced by
the amendments in these financial statements.

(b) HKAS 19 (2011) (b) §%§ﬁ$ﬂ%w%(:§——$)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

HKAS 19 (2011) introduces a number of amendments

@%ﬁ%%m%(:g——i)%‘?

to the accounting for defined benefit plans. Among Igﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁimﬂd'% G RE 2 1ER
them, HKAS 19 (2011) eliminates the “corridor method” R AEIE H'J%195f(f’:**¢)5
under which the recognition of actuarial gains and losses BT [REZE] TREE] AT ERTER

relating to defined benefit schemes could be deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the expected average
remaining service lives of employees. Under the HKAS 19
(2011), all actuarial gains and losses are required to be
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.
HKAS 19 (2011) also changed the basis for determining
income from plan assets from expected return to interest

income calculated at the liability discount rate, and

FetBlz B8 REREEIRES ZTEH
BT RBFHETTNIBER AR -
REEBSGHEAFEIGR (=2 ——F)
FTAEREREREBEENEMEZERER
AR - BT HEAE19R (ZF——
F)NERETTEEEMSUA Z ELE -
MEMERERAUNBETRAEFEZA
QHSZ)\'ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@?ﬂﬁﬂ‘%ﬁkzﬁ($ﬁﬁ

requires immediate recognition of past service cost, FEBHT)  cmRAEE I EEMEERE
whether vested or not. The adoption of the HKAS 19 ﬂ FREE HWEB S ERNF19%

(2011) does not have any material impact on the Group's
financial statements as the Group does not have any
defined benefit plan.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

(0

(d)

Amendments to HKFRS 7

The amendments introduce new disclosures in respect of
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. Those
new disclosures are required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32,
Financial instruments: Presentation and those that are
subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or
similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments
and transactions, irrespective of whether the financial
instruments are set off in accordance with HKAS 32.

The adoption of the amendments does not have an impact
on these financial statements because the Group has
not offset financial instruments, nor has it entered into
master netting arrangement or similar agreement which is
subject to the disclosures of HKFRS 7 during the periods
presented.

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 10 replaces the requirements in HKAS 27,
Consolidated and separate financial statements relating
to the preparation of consolidated financial statements
and HK-SIC 12 Consolidation — Special purpose entities. It
introduces a single control model to determine whether an
investee should be consolidated, by focusing on whether
the entity has power over the investee, exposure or rights
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and the ability to use its power to affect the amount of
those returns.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 10, the Group has
changed its accounting policy with respect to determining
whether it has control over an investee. The adoption does
not change any of the control conclusions reached by the
Group in respect of its involvement with other entities as at
1 April 2013.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2.

54

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

(e)

()

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 11, which replaces HKAS 31, Interests in joint
ventures, divides joint arrangements into joint operations
and joint ventures. Entities are required to determine the
type of an arrangement by considering the structure,
legal form, contractual terms and other facts and
circumstances relevant to their rights and obligations
under the arrangement. Joint arrangements which
are classified as joint operations under HKFRS 11 are
recognised on a line-by-line basis to the extent of the joint
operator’s interest in the joint operation. All other joint
arrangements are classified as joint ventures under HKFRS
11 and are required to be accounted for using the equity
method in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Proportionate consolidation is no longer allowed as an
accounting policy choice. The adoption of HKFRS 11 does
not have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated

financial statements.

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all
the disclosure requirements relevant to an entity’'s
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and unconsolidated structured entities. The disclosures
required by HKFRS 12 are generally more extensive than
those previously required by the respective standards. The
adoption of HKFRS 12 does not have any material impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

(9)

(h)

HKFRS 13

HKFRS 13 replaces existing guidance in individual HKFRSs
with a single source of fair value measurement guidance.
HKFRS 13 also contains extensive disclosure requirements
about fair value measurements for both financial
instruments and non-financial instruments. To the extent
that the requirements are applicable the Group, the Group
has provided those disclosure in note 38. The adoption of
HKFRS 13 does not have any material impact on the fair
value measurements of the Group's assets and liabilities.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle

This cycle of annual improvements contains amendments
to five standards with consequential amendments to
other standards and interpretations. Among them, HKAS
1 has been amended to clarify that an opening balance
sheet is required only when a retrospective application
of an accounting policy, a retrospective restatement or a
reclassification has a material effect on the information
presented in the opening balance sheet. The amendments
also remove the requirement to present related notes
to the opening balance sheet when such statement is
presented. The adoption of these amendments does not
have any material impact on the Group's consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

)

BHRRMBE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT

3. BE-ZE—NE=BA=+—HILEECEH

YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

2014

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2014 and which have not been early adopted

in these financial statements.

BREMZER] FEARBBZTER

BEUNEVBRRTNERS TESHAMAE
ERMETE] FEAEZRZE ERBE-F
“OE=ZA=t-RALFERRER B RE
BRI FER B RER AT

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RUTEBR 2%
FimzFERBER

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets — Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-financial Assets

Amendments to HKAS 39, Novation of
Derivatives and Continuation of
Hedge Accounting

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011) — Investment Entities

HK (IFRIC) — Int 21, Levies

Amendments to HKAS 19, Employee Benefits —
Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010 - 2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2011 -2013 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 11, Accounting for
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38,
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation

BRGHEUNERRZEIT BT A:
2y -HREeREELRSRAE]

ER G ENEI6HE 2B [EERME—
FEREEZA KD S ENE]

R EREIR ZER]
[EMITETAREEE hEF

ERVHEBRELEDEI05  EEUBRS
EAE12R BB ST ERNE2795

ZE——F)ZBIIREER
BB (BBRUKBREREZES
—REE215 [#H )
ERBGRTERE199 285

[BERF —EEMEMNE :EEH#HZ
T -TFE-_T-—FEB2

BB % RS R FE U

TE-—FE-_T-=FE#H2
R MmE R FEIOE

BEMBREENE R 2B
B eExBEa 2 BTRE]

FRGHENFIR R EFBGHER
FEISJ|ZBRT [BRBARIZITER
BiH7 R

1 January 2014
—ET-HFE-HA—H

1 January 2014
—FT-NFE—H—H

1 January 2014
—E-MFE-A—H

1 January 2014
—E-WHFE-A—H

1 January 2014
—E-mMFE-A—H

1 July 2014
—ZE—NE+A—H
1 July 2014

(with limited exceptions)
—E-WFELA—H
(BBRBIIME BRI
1 July 2014
—E—MNE+LA—H
1 January 2016
ZE—-R~"F—A—H
1 January 2016
—E—-R~"F—HA—H

BEEUGREEBNE 4R [EERETHED ]
ERUBRELAE IS5 (B & W]

HKFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts*

HKFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts 1 January 2017

with Customers —ZE—tF—H—H
HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments EEVBEHREENEIR [efT A 1 January 2018 (tentatively)
—Z2—N\F—HA—H

E)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 BBV EHRELERNEIR KB BIEHE LR 1 January 2018 (tentatively)
Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and BT 2ASE] [ BB MRS ERIEIH 2 —ZT-NF—A—H
Transition Disclosures SR i A 2 BB R iR O 1 BE E)

* Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on *

AR - FE—NF—A—HRAZRABE GRS

or after 1 January 2016 B HREER GRS FEMBEIRE
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

B mERWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—NF=A=+—HBIEFE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2014 (continued)

The Group is yet to assess the full impact of these amendments

and new standards on its consolidated financial statements.

However, all of these new developments are not expected to

have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 March.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #ZEZZ—

4.

58

ME=ZA=+t—RHILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the group are presented on the face of the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the company. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with Notes
4(n) or 4(o) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(0

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 4(h))
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see
Note 4(k)),
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as

unless the investment is classified as held for

held for sale). The results of the subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivables.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBBERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

4.

60

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0

(d)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see Note 4(k)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of the purchased goodwill is included
in the calculation of profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs,
where applicable. Capitalised development costs are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Other development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and
impairment losses. Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. Technical know-how for
separation of rare resources concentrates is amortised from
the date it is available for use and its estimated useful life
is 10 years.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

B mERWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—NF=A=+—HBIEFE
4., FTEESTBEBME (F)
() M%¥ BERRE
ME - BERRBRELKABRAAINE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of
any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign
currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are expensed in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their residual value, if
any, on a straight-line method over their estimated useful

lives as follows:

Leasehold buildings 20 years
Leasehold land and buildings 30 years
Leasehold improvements 2 years
Plant and machinery 3 - 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 — 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 10 years

Construction in progress represents buildings, structures,
plant and machinery and other fixed assets under
construction or installation and is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises direct costs of construction, installation and
testing as well as capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction or
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment or
investment properties when completed and ready for use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEETHEME (&)
(continued)
(e) Property, plant and equipment (continued) (e) ME -BERRZ®E(E)

62

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.

The assets’ residual values (if any) and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date. An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. The gain or loss on derecognition of the asset,
calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item, is included
in profit or loss in the period the item is derecognised.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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(f) Land use rights (f) LufERARE
Land use rights are lump sum upfront payments to acquire T ARERBEABABAGRZYE
long-term interest in lessee-occupied properties. Land use MERAESRHELN 2 EE BREEE
rights relating to buildings of the Group are stated at cost FHEB 2 L ERAEE KA R
and are amortised over the period of the lease on the HEMANREFETEREE-
straight-line basis to profit or loss.

(g) Leases (9 HE

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

(i) Operating lease (both as the lessee or the lessor)
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Where the Group is the
lessee, payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) are expensed
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit or
loss in a straight line basis over the lease period.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Leases (continued)
(ii) Finance lease (as the lessee)

Leases of assets where the Group has substantially
obtained all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the
lower of the fair value of the leased property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on
the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included in current and non-current obligation under
a finance lease. The interest element of the finance
cost is recognised in profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period. The investment properties acquired
under finance leases are carried at their fair value,
while the property, plant and equipment acquired
under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter
of the useful lives of the assets or the lease terms.

Financial assets

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date when the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive
income. At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired, such as
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
an investment in an equity investment below its costs.
Financial assets other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities are further
categorised into the following classifications for the
measurement after initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

(0

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Financial assets (continued)

()

(ii)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss included in current assets and are stated in
the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Gain or loss on the fair value
changes of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. They arise when the Group
provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor
with no intention of trading the receivable. They
are included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months after the balance sheet
date which are classified as non-current assets. The
Group's loans and receivables comprise “Trade and
other receivables” and “Cash and cash equivalents”
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted

average cost formula and comprises all cost of purchase,

cost of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition. Net

realisable value is determined on the basis of anticipated

sale proceeds less estimated selling expenses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(M

0

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and, after initial recognition, at amortised cost less
any allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful debts,
except for the following receivables:

- interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting being immaterial, that are measured at
cost less any allowance for impairment of bad and
doubtful debts; and

- short term receivables with no stated interest rate
and the effect of discounting being immaterial, that
are measured at their original invoiced amount less
any allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful
debts.

BB RME (&)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Impairment of assets

()

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables

Investment in equity securities and other current and
non-current receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale
securities are reviewed at each balance sheet date
to determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Group about one or more of the following loss

events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

- For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset where the
effect of discounting is material. Impairment

losses for equity securities are not reversed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities

and other receivables (continued)

For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting
is material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised
cost share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be

linked objectively to an event occurring after the

impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss

is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an

impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying

amount exceeding that which would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recognised

in prior years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors included
within trade and other receivables, whose recovery
is considered doubtful but not remote. In this case,
the allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written off
against trade debtors and bills receivable directly and
any amounts held in the allowance account relating
to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

- pre-paid interests in land use rights classified as
being held under an operating lease;

- intangible assets;

- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
balance sheet.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of time
value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
flows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. cash-generating
unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating units (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
or value in use (if determinable).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year (see notes 4(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill and intangible asset carried at
cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment been assessed
only at the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates. Consequently, if the fair value
of an available-for-sale equity security increases in
the remainder of the annual period, or in any other
period subsequently, the increase is recognised in
other comprehensive income and not profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., FTEESTBEBE (F)

(continued)

() Cash and cash equivalents () BHeRRLEEER
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on Re kB cEHEHEERRERTERER
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial © ERITREMESREE ZFHFERU
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments KRB RER AR M ENES MK
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash BEZFH I TEM2ERILTEA  BEINE
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes ZIHMBE=ZEAZAZRE MRS 258
in value, having been within three months of maturity at & -
acquisition.

(m) Share capital (m) B
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. L@k e ARRER -
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new EEBBREITHRIBARRE 2 318 B AR
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net RPN AEHRIE 2R (BREE) -

of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's WEMEBARBERRR 2 EmRA (B
equity share capital (Treasury shares), the consideration TR BN z2RE(BEERNZE
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs BEEARFTIGAR (FIBRATER) ) e AR A
(net of income taxes,) is deducted from equity attributable EaRRELERTNR EE2RHO KT
to the Company's equity shareholders until the shares are HEMBETRHERIL -MEBRNDERE
cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares are WSS EHELT RIMEM AR E 2R E
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, (HBRENEEERGEZHEISGNEARE
net of any directly attributable incremental transaction BATEHREE) ;T ALARR R EEN
costs and the related income tax effects, is included in T o

equity attributable to the Company’s equity shareholders.

(n) Trade and other payables (n) ERNEZRHEMEKE
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair ENESHIEMBREN SRR T ERR -
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities (if any) BRARIEFT 5T 4(s)()ET E 2 M B IEREE (10
measured in accordance with Note 4(s)(), trade and other BN EBRNE S REMBEEELZIZEIFEX
payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost except ABIBE - MDA T BB BR B B AP -

for the following payables:

- short-term payables with no stated interest rate and - ERTEEXRRHEMNERERETRY
the effect of discounting being immaterial, that are W TEXR AIEMNEKRBARERER
measured at their original invoiced amount; and BEEFE R

-~ interest free loans from related parties without any - HEEATRGRETMAETERD
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting ZREERGENAZELTEKX
being immaterial, that are measured at cost. BIfER BRIEBIZ A ARG & ©
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

(p)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]

Bank and other borrowings

Bank and other borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Transaction
costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or
financial liability, including fees and commissions paid to
agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory
agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes
and duties. Bank and other borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Bank and other borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the balance sheet date.

Convertible note
Convertible note which contain an equity component are
accounted for as follows:

Convertible note that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.

An initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible note is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component is
recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs
that relate to the issue of a compound financial instrument
are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

(q)

Convertible note (continued)

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using
the effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the convertible note reserve until either the
note is converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the convertible note reserve,
together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred to
share capital and share premium as consideration for the
shares issued. If the note is redeemed, the convertible note

reserve is released directly to accumulated losses.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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4.

74

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future. The amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax

assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a

net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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4.

76

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

Employee benefits

()

(ii)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution plans under
the mandatory provident fund scheme and state-
managed retirement benefits scheme are charged as
expenses as they fall due.

Share-based payments

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received is determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share options reserve). At the balance sheet
date, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve. For share options that are vested at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payment
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as
deferred income within trade and other payables.
The fair value of financial guarantees issued at the
time of issuance is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or
is otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available
with the estimated rates that lenders would have
charged, had the guarantees not been available,
where reliable estimates of such information can be
made. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial
recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note (iii) below
if and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder
of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee and (ii) the amount of that claim on the
Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee, i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Contingent liabilities acquired in business
combinations

Contingent liabilities acquired as part of a business
combination are initially recognised at fair value,
provided the fair value can be reliably measured.
After their initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that
would be determined in accordance with note (iii)
below. Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued are
disclosed in accordance with note (iii) below.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t)

Revenue recognition

B wmERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-_T—ME=A=+—BILFHE
4. FEEFBEHE(H)
() WAZHER
WARBE R EEREZ XA FEFTE K

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable. Revenue excludes value added and

business taxes, and is after deduction of trade discounts, if

any.

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow

to the Group and the revenue and the costs, if applicable,

can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or

loss as follows:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Revenue arising from rare resources is recognised
when the Group has transferred to the customer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods.

Revenue arising from gamma ray irradiation services
is recognised in the accounting period in which the

services are rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when
the Group has delivered the relevant properties to the
purchaser and the collectability of related receivable
is reasonably assured.

When the renovation services are provided and the
outcome of the renovation project can be estimated
reliably, renovation service income is recognised on
the percentage of completion method measured by
reference to the value of work carried out during
the year. When the outcome of a renovation project
cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of the project costs incurred that it
is probable will be recoverable.
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4.

80

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]

Revenue recognition (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Sales of building materials are recognised when they
are delivered and title has passed.

Realised gain or loss on investments held for trading
is recognised on a trade date basis whilst unrealised
gain or loss on investments held for trading is
recognised to restate to their fair value on the
balance sheet date.

(viii) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

(ix)

(x)

effective interest method.

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the Group's rights to receive payment have
been established prior to the balance sheet date.

Government grants are recognised in the balance
sheet initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the
asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZEZZF

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(u) Foreign currencies translation

(i)

(i1)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except
those arising from foreign currency borrowings used
to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation
which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such
as equity instruments held at fair value through
profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
items, such as equities classified as available-
for-sale financial assets, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in

equity in the fair value reserve.
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4.

82

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Foreign currencies translation (continued)
(iii)) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each financial
statements are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(¢) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the

exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in
exchange reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified from equity
to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the year-end closing rate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (confinued)
M HmRME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEEFBEHE(H)

(continued)

(v) Borrowing costs (v) fBERE
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, AW 2EREEARSHEAAERTE
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets PRl iE A EREEMAEREE 2B
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ERAEGER ERZEEEZHS
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as BAS - MR R BN A B AT R BER
part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such TARAHEERFLER L -BAESIN
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially AEREERMXZEEREZHRBRER
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income ARIBE R 2 B E KA

earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised.

(w) Related parties (w) BEAL
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family, is (@) MEBALFEUTEMS BIZEA
related to the Group if that person: T EEBEREY 2 RIEK B EAE
B A ME
() has control or joint control over the Group; (i) SIS @ ¥ A 2 4 ol 2k RE
T

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEEHEEEATEN X

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel (i) ARAEEXAEEHFRTZEE
of the Group or the Group's parent. EIBAB-

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) ME—FEBHFEUTTMEMS  AH
following conditions applies: NEE G REE:

() The entity and the Group are members of the () EROAEEBR—SE 2K
same group (which means that each parent, 8 BIERE -WEARKRR
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the NN == R RN
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) X—EBERBRS ERZBMZERA
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of REERE RS —EEME
a member of a group of which the entity is a SEREZHBERFAREED
member). S

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (i) MREBHARA-—F=H26%
party. -
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84
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(w) Related parties (continued)

(x)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]

(b)  (continued)
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a

majority of these criteria.

4.

FTESHEERE (8&)
(w) BEAL (&)
(b) (#&)
(ivy BREAFE-BRZAELE M
FS-BRAE-EBEIBED
=B

(x)

=
g
i

N

0§
o
N3

\
L

sy
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ﬁ

] o
o)
fis

(vi) X(a)fr e A Ll 3
2]

e
HeF

(vii) (@Q)(IVFAEATHEREAEX
FENRAER (IARERBZY
/A AE

AZEEER °

2 R

=3

MEBUZRERBRERAEEY
BERZXFGIATRREZEZREKE

‘m]u mhm

o

2EWERE
EEDARHBHRERAZLHM2ZOEIER

SR DREANEEREAEERAER
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(y)

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held
for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount
will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use and the asset (or disposal group)
is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal
group is a group of assets to be disposed of together
as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly
associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction. When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the above criteria for classification as held for sale
are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before
the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for
sale and until disposal, the non-current assets (except for
certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to
this measurement policy so far as the financial statements
of the Group and the Company are concerned are
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits,
financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be
measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere
in note 4.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset
is classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale, the non-current
asset is not depreciated or amortised.

4. FEETBREHE(H)

(y)

BFEHEZFRBEE

W—EERPEE (RLEAR) 2 REE
BAREBLERS (MIFEBFEER)
e ARZEE (RHEAR) JERR
THE MoBARKELE - HEARR—
HBNE-—XSH—HHEZEE  ARHE
BRZXZGTPEEZEEEZBRZIEE
EAKBBNORTHIRKREMBRE ZE
HEzHEHSE ZHBRAAZMEEE
ReaBeneER bl SrEREZ s RERE
BOBERFKERE MIAHAEEEORN
HERRBERZMB LR ZIFERER -

EEDERTBIEREN FRBDEE (RH
EHAZMABIEERAB) GRS
AIRBEEABRENAE - HE RUED
BABFLEREERERN FERDEE
(Tl zETEERN) R EARE
ARTEE R A T ER SR AR 2 8RR & R
ReoAAEBRARRZHBREME - B
ARAMAERR Z E205MER RIEIT
MREE REGNMELZEE ©8E
E(RHBAR BMERTAREELEZR
AR REEME - RS EENE R
HE DEEERNTAEME D PAE 2 K
Rt &

RIEDRAFEHERERERFERE
HHEEHFFEZREBRRERER R
RERBDEEDOER/FELERMAL
BABFELREZHEMAR ERDEEY
NFIrEREH -
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86

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Allowance for impairment of trade and other

receivables

The Group makes allowance for impairment of bad
and doubtful debts based on an assessment of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables. Allowances
are applied to trade and other receivables where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of impairment
of bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact carrying value
of receivables and allowances for impairment losses in the

period in which such estimate has been changed.

(ii) Estimation of impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 4(k). The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determined based on value
in use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates (Note 18).

CE3-RRrE el -

AEBBELBRLACEAR (BEAGFRRE
ETHEATHAEHZAEES) AKE K&
ERCERR A S-S

REBERRRELGBF RBRE-BEREE ZF
SR ROEABERERBER -FHERNE
HART -MBFEREERAERAEED
BERABZRERZ HET RREE T Xamid

() EHESRAMBKREZRERE

AEERBYHERE S R EMEREZ 7T
EI2EZ b RRERELRERE-
fid & IR B I B0 BURAE 87 AT BE SR MK
B - A% e W 5 K EL At AR TR R R B o
PIRIZRR Z M EFH Z KA HET KR EET - o
EEMANNRERMG AMZERBREE
ZAh A2 B B 2 e W AR IR 2 BRTE (E MR
BEEERE-

(i) fhEtEERE
AEBTFRREFTAOMINZ Gt BE
AABEELHARE -ReELELY
AU Bl SRR T IR(E R E B EAEE - %
SHE T EREBMEE (HZ18) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(iii) Amortisation and impairment of intangible asset

(iv)

Intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over
its estimated useful lives in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 4(d). The determination of the useful
lives involves management’s estimation. The Group re-
assesses the useful life of the intangible asset and, if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such a
difference may impact the amount of amortisation charged
to consolidated income statement during the year and the
estimate will be changed in the future period.

The Group tests whether intangible asset which has finite
useful live has suffered any impairment whenever there
is any indication that the asset may have been impaired.
The recoverable amount of the intangible asset has been
determined based on the higher of its (i) value in use,
which have been estimated using discounted cash flow
method, and (ii) fair value less costs of disposal. Testing
for impairment requires significant subjective judgements
by management. Any changes in the estimates used
could have a material impact on the calculation of the
recoverable amount and result in an impairment charge.
No impairment loss on intangible asset classified as asset
held for sale was recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2014 (2013: HK$82,346,000).

Income taxes

Deferred tax asset in relation to the unused tax losses of
approximately HK$256,908,000 (2013: HK$256,292,000)
was not recognised in the Group’s consolidated balance
sheet. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are less
than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a reversal takes place.

5. BARERtfhEtRME (&)

(i) BEEEBRHERAE

(iv)

BRRHT M)A Z R HE  BREER
HEAERFHAREREERE BT
ERFERSRERE GG A EEEM
BVEAEZAERFY HEHBENNER
T BAEBEERAETEFARGS
kMK 2 BHS R MAETHRARE
AR B o

WEANDRBEREEBERAFERFHZ
BREAEREDRE NEBGRAHZE
EEEGCHBREBE -BREEZATREE
BIEOHMNARERSREXFTZERRE
B RNAFERLERAMEZESE
Er ETREIAREEEREEFEEAX
EXBAHAH ARG 2 EMEB A8
HARE eB 2 ETEEREATE
TEEHERMEZIL - RBEE=-Z2—N
FZA=1T—"BLFE BES>EAEFE
HPELEEZEVEENBSHAREEE
—Z— =4 :82,346,000/87C) °

T8t
ERADAFBBEBZEEMNEEE
#49256,908,0008 L (=& — = F :
256,292,000 L) WERAEB 2765
EAERARR BLCHBEBEE #RE
ZEEUAR R A E B K m F s R KA 7]
MAZERBEREEZB - WEEBREE
AR EF DR FEE - R A g g o IR T
REEEEERD YR BBEBDEAE
ZHIRRIBEm AR -
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 5. BABEF AERHE (B)

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Income taxes (continued)

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
expenses in the year in which such determination is made.

Land appreciation tax

The subsidiaries engaging in property business in the PRC
are subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC. However,
the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the
PRC and certain projects of the Group have not finalised
their land appreciation tax calculations and payments
with any local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly,
significant estimate is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related income tax provisions.
The Group recognised the land appreciation tax based on
management'’s best estimates. The final tax outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
and these differences will impact the income tax expense
and the related income tax provisions in the periods in
which such tax is finalised with local tax authorities.

(iv) FRE®t (&)
AEBEAEEERTEBAMEH - N E
EREHERRBERERAG AEE
BRETAAEBEZRERKRAAZRS
it -ASERBHELHEZHMAEIN
Bz that MMM EETZRERE
BE-MZEFEFRZEERBEREG IR &R
Mz eR MEHERARTEELE
BRTE 2 F 2 Z FTSTH RORIE R TR 32

(v) LT ER
RPBEREMEEF KB AR AZRFT
B+ B ER AT P EFER TR
MR EiEREBE R AREBEZHE
FER MAEEZETHEE MAESP
TR R ST B R L
BERZAR -Fi RETHHISESER
HiABAMBREBERBELRERGT A
SEENEEEz R EGBI BRI MIEE
M- mEMEBELERIEERRAINEZ
e MZIZRETEEM B EEA
HMEZEHBZHEAZAEHEYL RE
BAFTS T 4 o

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 6. DEEHR
Business segments Sl
For management purpose, the Group has three (2013: three) BRERME AEELE=H(Z—=F:=
principal lines of businesses namely (1) property business BIFEEB 2RI EEE (BEWEE
(including property development, trading of building materials BBEMME S RIEBHREERS)  Q)MIFH
and provision of renovation services); (2) gamma ray irradiation BBHFRE: RO)ERER  EREMER—F
services; and (3) resources business which, together with other FBEERKRE AEBRUEZE S ERETES T
operation — securities trading and investment. These divisions BERt e

are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment
information.
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. IWER(B)
Segment results, assets and liabilities ITHWEE - BEEREE
An analysis of the Group's turnover, contribution to operating BREKOHE Do AEBEXR KEX£ER
results and segment assets and liabilities by business segments is Bl MEERBESNWOT
presented as follows:
2014 —E-—mE
Other
operation -
Gamma ray securities
Property irradiation Resources  trading and
business services business investment  Unallocated Total
Rt EK-
DIETIES BHEE
NEXH Rot R EUES k&% L1 &zt

HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HKS 000
FEL FEL FER FEr FEr FEr

INCOME STATEMENT g%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014 HE-E-NE

ZAZT-BLEE
REVENUE g
Turnover B 1,011 5,906 34,101 - - 41,018
Segment results PHER (694) (2,565) (3,559) (176) - (6,994)
Unallocated corporate expenses FABRAAER (17,469)
Loss from operations EERE (24,463)
Finance costs RERR (30,294)
Loss before taxation BB AIER (54,757)
Taxation HE 34

Loss before non-controlling interests NBRFERERAER (54,723)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (B)
THER BEERERS (B)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

2014 (continued)

ZE-mF (&)

Other
operation -
Gamma ray securities
Property irradiation Resources  trading and
business services business investment  Unallocated Total
AR
55 & B5EE
NEEH BERE ERER REE KR @
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000
TET AT TET TET FAT FET
BALANCE SHEET EERER
AT 31 MARCH 2014 W-E-MEZA=1-H
ASSETS &
Segment assets PHEE 9,765 59,179 - 19,605 - 88,549
Assets classified as held for sale PERBELECEE
(note 15) (f#15) - - 758,175 - - 758,175
Unallocated corporate assets AIBAREE 78,544
Consolidated total assets GREEME 925,268
LIABILITIES af
Segment liabilities HEE 25,184 10,335 134,929 1,269 - 17,717
Liabilities classified as held for sale FEARELEZER
(note 15) (#i15) - - 513,292 - - 513,292
Unallocated corporate liabilities FARAAEE 44,080
Consolidated total liabilities GRBREEE 729,089
OTHER INFORMATION HitER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014 HE_Z-Qm%
ZA=T-ALEE
Capital additions b - 51 - - - 51
Depreciation and amortisation HERBH 758 4,838 - - 15 5,711
Net unrealised losses on financial assets ~ BATFEFABEEREEL
at fair value through profit or loss FEREERE - - - 4,0m2 - 4,0m

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) oEER (E)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) DHMER EEREE (B
2013 —T—=F
Other
operation -
Gamma ray securities
Property irradiation Resources trading and
business services business investment Total
i kH-
MBS #HEE
NEER R4 R BRER Rz & @it
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TET TEL TET TET TET
INCOME STATEMENT Wk
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 HE-E-Z=%
ZAZT-RIEEE
REVENUE e
Turnover 28 8,046 5,941 34,536 - 48523
Segment results BRI 2.959) 2,515) (152,072) 3,076 (154,470)
Unallocated corporate expenses APERERT (14,092)
Loss from operations EBEE (168,562)
Finance costs BERK (48,289)
Loss before taxation BRAER (216,851)
Taxation WE 2,409
Loss before non-controlling interests R FERERNEE (214,442)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

6. DHREHR (&)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) ITHEE - EEREE(E)
2013 (continued) ZE—=F (&)
Other
operation -
Gamma ray securities
Property irradiation Resources trading and
business services business investment Unallocated Total
EE%-
st BHEE
NEEH RaT % EREHR REE APE @
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
TET AT FET FET FET FET
BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 MARCH 2013
ASSETS EE
Segment assets PHEE 11,973 64,421 - 38,845 - 115,239
Assets classified as held for sale NEARELEZ AR
(note 13) (#rat15) - - 735,204 - - 735,004
Unallocated corporate assets AORAFAEE 99,554
Consolidated total assets GRAELE 949,997
LIABILITIES af
Seqment liablities B8 26776 10,080 151,763 4774 - 193,393
Liabilities classified as held for sale PEARELEZ AR
(note 15) (fis#13) - - 538,063 - - 538,063
Unallocated corporate liabilities AORARRE 27,987
Consolidated total liabilities GREREE 759,443
OTHER INFORMATION AER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013 HE-E-Z=F
ZAZT-HIEER
Impairment loss B AR RERE
on intangible asset - - 82,346 - - 82,346
Capital additions b 1,618 1 9,025 - 27 10,671
Depreciation and amortisation RERESH 1,164 482 57,991 - 131 64,108
Net unrealised losses on financial assets BATEIFABEL
at fair value through profit or loss SREELRERERTE - - - 6,201 - 6,201
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—WNF=A=+—HBIEFE

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during
the year (2013: HK$Nil).

Segment results represents the profit/(loss) earned or incurred
by each segment without allocation of central administration
costs including directors’ salaries, investment and other income,
finance costs, and income tax expense. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
current and deferred tax assets. Goodwill is allocated to
reportable segments. Assets used jointly by segments are
allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual
segments; and

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than certain borrowings and current and deferred tax
liabilities. Liabilities for which segments are jointly liable
are allocated in proportion to segment assets.

Geographical segments

All of the Group’s operations are principally located in Hong
Kong and the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
Group’s administration is carried out in Hong Kong.

An analysis of the Group's turnover by geographical market,
irrespective of the origin of the goods and services, is presented

oEER (E)

ITHEE BEREE(H)

EXFEfHmz Wamts RAIBEP Z W - RA
FREITESBEBHE (ZFT—=F T °

DEEERERDETRITRER (BEEEH
S REREMEA BEKRARAEHRF)
Bl BREDMAMBMREEZ RN, (FHE) -
I RAEBEEREEZHRUNEER D B RAT
moBRBREZITE-

RERIBRRRED B EERMF -

- FEEESSKERRD A (AR FEE
BIEEERIN) -BEDIEEZRRDE -
EDBMARER 2 EETREER S EBPT
Wz WETUAR: &

- FEEREBASREZRHmIMB(EETEE
RABMPEERIBARERIN) - &5 HH H
AEZBERIRESAEEZLLA TS
fic e

s & 2 &P
AEERBEBIZURBERPEARLMN
B ([HhE) - REBZITRIERBEBET-

AEBERMRTIZE D 2 EEE (TwEMKIR
AR AT

below:
2014 2013
—E-mF —T-=%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Hong Kong BB 1,011 28
The PRC i 40,007 48,495
41,018 48,523
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Geographical segments (continued)
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-

EER (&)
WEDE (&)

REEMEMRE D 2FERBDEEREED TN

current assets analysed by the geographical area in which the T~
assets are located:
2014 2013
—E-mF T —=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong 0 59 104
The PRC A 57,115 62,074
57,174 62,178
Information about major customers FHEIEEFZER

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing

RENBEFERERABIONZES ZHA

over 10% of the total revenue are as follows: T
2014 2013
—E-mEF —T—=

HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A’ BER - 9,361
Customer B? xR 2?2 - 5,865
Customer C’ EFER' 13,976 5,540
Customer D’ BET! - 5,308
Customer E’ BRI 19,083 -

1 Revenue from resources business ! K EEREREZ WA

2 Revenue from property business

2 KEYEFEHZ WA
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TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS, NET 7.
Turnover represents the aggregate of the net amounts received
and receivable from third parties during the year. An analysis of

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

EXE HtWARWE FHE
ERBREFANBE=ZTERRERFIEFRLZ
BB -AEBZFRNEERE HMRARKE

the Group's turnover, other revenue and gains, net for the year FREAMWT
is as follows:
2014 2013
—EB-mF —E—=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Turnover EXER
Resources business BRER 34,101 34,536
Gamma ray irradiation services income N5 5T 47 B8 5 AR 765 W A 5,906 5,941
Property business EE S 1,011 8,046
41,018 48,523
Other revenue and gains, net Hit AR Kz F8E
Interest income on financial assets not WIEAFEFAEBRZ
at fair value through profit or loss ERMEEZFEMWA 906 34
Dividend income from listed investments IR EZKREBA 734 782
Net realised gains on financial assets ERAFEGFABRZEMEEZ
at fair value through profit or loss B#E W FE 3,172 8,505
Net unrealised losses on financial assets BRATEFABRZEREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss REREEFE (4,072) (6,201)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) HEMB AR (MiE34) - 1,656
Government grants (Note) BT 8B (H7E) - 3,704
Sundry income A WA 338 164
1,078 8,644
42,096 57,167
Gross proceeds from securities trading BHEEZMSRIEHLTE 100,178 70,094

Note: The government grants represented the amounts received from the
local government by a subsidiary of the Group for rare resources
technology innovation and improvement. All specific conditions

have been fulfilled (if any).

BfaE - TR #E B4R A &= B Y R A B E BT e 2k
= A B R B T B 75 TR 2 5ROA
FEREGREHCER (MEF) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BEMXK
2014 2013
—2-mE —EF-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest on: e
Bank borrowing wholly repayable BRAEFANEHEEZRITEE
within five years 753 766
Other borrowings HimEE
- wholly repayable within five years —BRAEFREHER 21,496 40,491
— not wholly repayable within five years - BERAFRNEZEEE 546 -
Convertible note (Note 29) AR EE (A iE29) 7,499 7,025
Other HA - 7
Total interest expense on financial liabilities I IFIR A FEF ABF 2
not at fair value through profit or loss cRBEBEZANESTH 30,294 48,289
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

Cost of sales includes HK$4,748,000 (2013: HK$7,6734,000)
relating to staff costs and depreciation expenses, which amount is
also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately
above and other direct operating expenses of HK$1,680,000 (2013:
HK$2,985,000).

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. KRBIAIEE
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging/ BREATE BRI, (5 A) THIEB#EBE !
(crediting):
2014 2013
—E-NF —E—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Staff costs* 8 T A"
— directors’ remuneration —EEMHE 1,155 1,155
- basic salaries and other benefits —HEAHEREMEFR 5,630 12,762
- retirement benefits scheme contributions — — iR K48 F &+ 2 4 7% 419 1,288
- share-based payments — AR R A 2 TR - 4,532
7,204 19,737
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BT B &
— Current year —AREE 1,356 1,344
— Underprovision in prior year - BEFERETR - 200
Depreciation of ME- -BERZBTE
property, plant and equipment? 5,216 13,146
Amortisation of intangible asset mREEEHH - 50,364
Amortisation of land use rights b {5 PR R 8 495 598
Exchange loss ME N &8 7,503 1,240
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BELEREZERE
plant and equipment 50 -
Operating lease payments KEREMNR 3,075 5,679
Cost of sales” $HE BAR 41,358 52,329
Write-down of inventories WoRE & 2,066 -
Rental income net of direct outgoings of HeWAHBREZEZHTHET
HK$Nil (2013: HK$Nil) (Z2—=F - (4)

HWEAXABIEESE TR ARITERHNTHHZ
4,748,000 70 (= F — =4 : 7,734,000/ )
AR TE AT AR _E X E B #5825 TR AR R X K
HE B EAERHT1,680,0008 0 (= F— =14 :
2,985,000/ ) °

Annual Report 2014 —Z—[UF4F% 97




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS" EMOLUMENTS

98

(a)

(b)

China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and Section 161 of the predecessor Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

10. EEREEFMALZHME

(a) EEME
RIEBIMES LTRIRERETEQA
GPIE 161 ERBEZ ARFEEEMMT ¢

Retirement
benefits Share-
Directors’  Salaries and scheme based 2014 2013
fees allowances  contributions payments Total Total
BHAER URGRE®R —B-mE —T-=F
Name of Directors BEspg Exshe HeRER BE Fi$ PAVES fst st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel BERkiE - 540 15 - 555 555
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren SEHEE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor FNERE 120 - - - 120 120
Independent BUFHITES
non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BRELE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BRERLE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Hung Hing Man B EE 120 - - - 120 120
Total 2014 “E-MEBH 600 540 15 - 1,155 1,155
Total 2013 e 600 540 15 -
Highest paid individuals (b) BEEFMAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in

the Group, one (2013: one) was director of the Company

AEBLERSFHALRE R (ZF
—=F —R)ARAESR - AMe#RN L

whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of NXoEBALTZMEMT:
the remaining individuals were as follows:
2014 2013
—E-mF —ET—=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FrET
Salaries and other benefits e & H M1z A 2,898 2,644
Retirement benefits scheme RIKTE A FT S 45K
contributions 57 51
2,955 2,695
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

10. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS" EMOLUMENTS (continued)

11.

(b)

Highest paid individuals (continued)
The emoluments of the remaining highest paid individuals
were within the following bands:

10. EERESFMALZME (B)

(b) BEHFMAL(E
HAGRBFMALHMEN FATHE:

2014 2013

—E-NF —T-=F

Number of Number of

employees employees

ESAZ 1ES A2

Up to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T LA A 3 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7L %£2,000,000/%8 7T 1 -

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the five highest paid individuals, including directors and
employees, as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the

FR-AEEYENLERSHEHAL (B2
REERER) XN MEAMAKRSE
BB A A AN SR B By 2 AR SR BE B A E o
FALEEEREEMHME -

directors has waived any emoluments during the year.

TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME 1. RERBERAZHIE
STATEMENT
2014 2013
—E-NEF —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Taxation calculated in the consolidated

income statement represents:

b U 24 R PR B2 B A

Current tax: NERRIA
PRC corporate income tax PRI MRS 119 143
PRC land appreciation tax o L R A R - 895
119 1,038
Deferred tax (Note 30): RAERIE (M 7230) -
Origination and reversal of BN ERZESRED
temporary differences (153) (3,447)
Taxation credit HIEHE R (34) (2,409)

Annual Report 2014 —Z—PYFFR 99




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB ERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-_T—NF=A=+—HILFE

11.

TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Company and
its subsidiaries in Hong Kong have no assessable profits for
both years. Taxation for the PRC subsidiaries is charged at the
appropriate current rate of taxation ruling in the PRC.

PRC land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds on sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including costs of land use rights and all property development
expenditures.

The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the domestic taxation
rates applicable to losses of the consolidated companies as

11.

REWFERAZBE(E)

BN AR R REE BB A R MIEFESE
FERBUR A - S EN RS B MRIEL TR
SHBAE - P BB AR BIATIR T BEEA A H
75 S A o

PR IZERRE T WEEAE (BHEDE
FISHIERE T ERERARMIAEDERR
STHEANBZE)ENF30%E60% 2 ZETH
R -

AEBERBAEBzZRELFERBRAREER
REBZ AR EMEAZERSBAMTR
ERR NS

follows:

2014 2013
—ET-mF —ET—=F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Loss before taxation B 5% Al 5 48 (54,757) (216,851)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of BRI EHNE16.5%
16.5% (2013: 16.5%) —E—=ZF116.5%)
AEZHIA (9,034) (35,780)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PEMBMAL 2B E 10,466 44,576
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBMBAZHBZE (394) (1,406)
Tax effect of temporary differences NEERBERZERER BB E
not recognised for the year 6 (81)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REERERZIUBEBER MG TE
for the year 241 3,189
PRC land appreciation tax A b 3 E R - 895
Tax effect of the PRC land appreciation tax B LI EF 2 B2 - (224)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries  fEEfbAAE R L % 2B QA
operating in other jurisdictions TEMEZZE (679) (13,578)
Over-provision in previous years BEFEBERE (640) -
Taxation credit RIEE R (34) (2,409)
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12.

13.

14.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to
the extent of HK$16,027,000 (2013: HK$129,615,000).

12.

ARTAEHERREGER

RAEERRREGEIEEF16,027,000% 7T (=
T— =4 :129,615,000% 5T ) R AN A 7 B % 3
KANRIE -

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) 13. Efe2EWE (X H)
2014 2013
—E-mF —E-=4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Exchange reserve: PE 3 &1
Exchange differences on translation BREFINNBE AR BREZ
of financial statements of overseas M X ZE 5
subsidiaries 10,482 334
Reclassification adjustments: ENOEAE:
- Realisation of exchange reserve on —HEM B AR R EE N ZE
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) (Wi 7#34) - (938)
Net movement in the exchange reserve REME2ERZ (ZH)ERZ
during the year recognised in other FANERFETES
comprehensive income/(expense) 10,482 (604)
LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of approximately HK$51,471,000 (2013: approximately
HK$143,475,000) and on the weighted average number of
4,053,476,011 (2013: 3,389,106,147) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2014 and 31 March 2013 has not included the potential
effect of share options outstanding and the deemed conversion
of the convertible note into ordinary shares as they have an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share for the year.

BREABEBDIBREAAAEZBREEN
FARNEIELHS1,471,0008 0 (T —=F:
#49143,475,0008 0) RFANEEHETEBR 2
hORE 19 814,053,476,01 % (=T — =4 :
3,389,106, 1478 ) 5+ & -

HERE-T-ME=A=t-AR-FT-=
FZAZT—ALFEZSREBE RS L0
HERTEBRERTAREERRIENLA

TahkzBERE RAREHFEERESE
REAR#ETE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

5%

1 02 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
Before 31 March 2013, the Group started to rationalise
the resources business by considering the possibilities of
restructuring the rare earth refinery and processing business.
The Group made a plan to sell a group of subsidiaries that
engaged in the rare earth refinery and processing business if the
assets value would be better reflected by such a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. The rare earth refinery and
processing business is mainly conducted through &2 &%)R
&R AR A F (Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology
Company Limited”) (“Mianning Mao Yuan”), a 54% owned
subsidiary of the Group. The Group is still actively seeking buyers
for the rare earth refinery and processing business and expects
to complete the sale within one year subject to commercial
circumstances. Preliminary discussions with potential buyers
were on going and as at 31 March 2014, negotiations for the
sale were still in progress and the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiaries continued to be classified as non-current assets and
liabilities held for sale. Subsequent to the balance sheet date,
a letter of intent for sale of rare earth refinery and processing
business has been signed with a potential buyer (note 45).

A business valuation of Mianning Mao Yuan as at 31 March
2013 and 2014 respectively has been performed. The
valuations were carried out by an independent valuer, Roma
Appraisals Limited, who has appropriate qualifications and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar businesses. The
Group’s management have discussed with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuations
were performed. The market value of Mianning Mao Yuan
has been determined based on discounted cash flow method
which uses projections of the future cash flows approved by
management covering a 5-year (2013: 9-year) period. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projection is 22.01% (2013:
21.98%) and cash flow beyond the 5-year (2013: 9-year)
period is extrapolated using a steady 3.12% (2013: 2.86%)
per annum growth rate. The growth rate used does not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the rare earth
industry. Management determined the budgeted sales and gross
margins based on past performance, market trends of the rare
earth industry and planned production strategy. The discount
rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to rare
resources industry.

15.

TEARFHEZEE &F
R-ZT—=F=ZA=+—HA AEEFRKZEE
EABLARMIEBZ AN  UHMBHERRE
B AREEFIHELER IR EEAEE Eit
FMEEEZBERAT HEZSUEBLRMNT
EB2HMBRAR -BLIAMIEBIZERE
EZXERLIMEBERAR ([2EXR]) (K
EEHEBSA%EZ 2B AR ETT NEE
EREBABTANTEBSRKER RFEHER
NN -—FATKEE AEEFELEEE
BERETMNH TR MR _T-—WF=A=+—
B EHHEZERNEELET ZEHBRARAZ
EERBBEBEIBRABEHEZERDEE
MBE-REEAR AEER-FEEEZRM®
HEBLRMTEBRT BRE (Mat45) -

BRERRZEKHEC IR =_ZE—ZFKR=
T-—NE=-ZA=+—B#T-HEABLG
BEMESEETEERARET ZRARER
EEEREBEUEBETHEZIRLES
REEERECSRETHER  BEAEMFRME
BERELMEER REXR2TEDRENE
RenREriEr MRABEREEZNALER
BHERERF (ZT—=ZF:AF)BHHEZX
KEeREBEAN -BeREBAMAZIBRE
B22.01% (ZFT—=%F:2198%) mMHBBHR
F(ZZE—=F - NE)HPHzBEEsRENEA
BEFEER3IIN2% (ZTE—=9F:286%)H#
H-FAEREWEBAN LITX 2 REATHIZ
RE-EHERBERTLR MLITEITSD
MERTEERRETEEEERENE A
WHREDHAFREE RBEKEERITEER
AR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 15. 2BABFELHEZEE 8E (&)
(continued)
The Directors consider that as at 31 March 2014 the recoverable EERA RZTE—WOF=A=+—H E2EX
amount of Mianning Mao Yuan exceeds its net carrying Rzl eEBREEEEAERAEBERDF
amount of the relevant assets and liabilities and accordingly, no oA WEBRRAREESS-
impairment loss has been recognised.
The results of the assets/liabilities classified as held for sale (i.e. HAGAWBREGARSREE 2N EARE
rare earth refinery and processing business) that are included EREZBE /BB (BB T RINTER) 24
in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated e
statement of cash flows are shown as below.
2014 2013
—E-NF —ET—=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year from rare earth refinery ML RMTEBARFEERE:
and processing business:
Turnover R 34,101 34,536
Other income E b Yz A 250 3,716
Cost of sales HEXR (34,930) (37,843)
Impairment loss on intangible asset EBVEEZREEE - (82,346)
Administrative expenses TH & A (2,980) (68,081)
Loss before taxation KRB AT E 1B (3,559) (150,018)
Taxation I8 153 (1,507)
Loss for the year KFFEE (3,406) (151,525)
Loss for the year from rare earth refinery MERMIER 2 RNFEEE
and processing business has been arrived R TFIEE &G :
at after charging the following:
Depreciation of property, ME - -BEREETE
plant and equipment - 7,516
Amortisation of intangible asset mREEHH - 50,364
Amortisation of land use rights b 50 PR e 8 - 112

In accordance with HKFRS 5, when a non- 1R 1E &8 B % R 5 28I 5555 -
current asset is classified as held for sale WIERBEER D BAIFIELEXK

or included within a disposal group that AN BEARIELEZ
is classified as held for sale, it is not EEEBA - BN T E sk #E -

depreciated or amortised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 15. 2EARBELHECZEE 8&(8)

(continued)

2014 2013
—E-NF =5
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Cash flows from rare earth refinery and MEARMIEBHz2RESRE
processing business:
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from wEEHz2RE (RE) /RAERE
operating activities (132) 6,563
Net cash outflows from investing activities & EE 2 H SR L FE - (9,025)
Net cash outflows W& F5E (132) (2,462)
The major classes of assets and liabilities REFEB DERBEHEZ
classified as held for sale as at BERBEZEZHMNET
year end are as follows:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 76) M- BE REE(Hit16) 114,073 111,961
Intangible asset (Note 19) mILEE (MiF19) 409,314 401,735
Land use rights (Note 17) TR (Mt 17) 5,441 5,340
Goodwill (Note 18) E (#i18) 174,989 171,748
Inventories (Note a below) BE(TxHita) 22,585 27,890
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 K& A A AR 1E 31,700 16,329
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) RekBReF@ER (WMit25) 73 201
Assets classified as held for sale NEARBELEECEE 758,175 735,204
Trade and other payables JET B 5 & E th BRIE (186,907) (116,757)
Other borrowings (Note b below) HifEE (FXMiEb) (325,002) (419,799)
Deferred taxation (Note 30) EIEFLIE (K73£30) (1,383) (1,507)
Liabilities directly associated with MABARKIELREZ
the assets classified as held for sale BAEEEZIEB AR (513,292) (538,063)
Net assets directly associated with the BEAYMARRIEHEZ
assets classified as held for sale BEEEEBCFEAE 244,883 197,141

1 04 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 15. PEARKELHEZEE A6 (B)
(continued)

2014 2013
—E-ImF —ET—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cumulative income recognised in other REMEEWSERE @S HARE
comprehensive income relating to the HEZEE,/BEBE2 Rl
assets/liabilities classified as held for sale:
Foreign exchange translation adjustments HMNEE 2 H 5 B 10,947 609
Notes: BiE -
(a)  Inventories comprise: (a) TFEBRE:
2014 2013
—E-NF —ET-=F
HK$°000 HK$000
FHET FHET
Raw materials GevE e 2,435 2,393
Work in progress EE M 19,088 22,070
Finished goods R in 1,062 3,427
22,585 27,890
(b)  Other borrowings include two loans (“Loan A" and “Loan B") () HMEEBREAQR—HME2EMBARMKBEILE
obtained by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company from ZHFRBrMEER([ERRIRIERS])
independent third parties. Both Loan A and Loan B are guaranteed R R RIER o 5% B A B 3 AR 2 Rl K AR R
by the Company. Lender of Loan A, Hondex Investments Limited ERIEBBEERER MERT 2 ER AHondex
(“Hondex"), has the right to demand the Company to transfer a Investments Limited ([Hondex | ) B # &K 2 7]
maximum of 25% equity interest in Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth MEEZETERRB IR ERAAZRZ25%
Technology Company Limited to the lender in the event of a default s #E

to repay the loan by the subsidiary or the Company on due date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

15. ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

1 06 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

(continued)

On 19 September 2013, the Company and a wholly-owned
subsidiary entered into a subscription agreement with Hondex,
Hondex subscribed for 500,000,000 shares of the Company
at a subscription price HK$0.1 each for a consideration of
HK$50,000,000, which was settled by way of capitalisation of part
of the Loan A (see note 31).

In accordance with the first supplemental agreement signed on
25 March 2013, the loan principal, outstanding interest and
additional interest on the Loan A were due for full repayment in
December 2014. On 28 March 2014, the Company and the wholly-
owned subsidiary entered into a second supplemental agreement
with Hondex to extend the due date for full repayment of loan
principal together with the outstanding interest to 30 June 2015.
Hondex agreed to waive all additional interest calculated up to
30 September 2013 payable pursuant to the first supplemental
agreement and to adjust the loan interest rate from 11.5% to
5% per annum with effect from 1 October 2013 and to adjust
additional interest rate to interest free for the period from 1
October 2013 to 30 June 2015.

In accordance with the first supplemental agreement signed on 25
March 2013, the loan principal, outstanding interest and additional
interest on the Loan B were due for full repayment in December
2014. On 28 March 2014, the Company and the wholly-owned
subsidiary entered into a second supplemental agreement with
lender of Loan B to extend the due date for full repayment of loan
principal together with the outstanding interest to 30 June 2015
and the lender of Loan B agreed to waive all additional interest
calculated up to 30 September 2013 payable pursuant to the first
supplemental agreement as the subsidiary had early repaid part of
the loan principal of RMB16,000,000 during the year and to adjust
the loan interest rate from 13.5% per annum to interest free with
effect from 1 October 2013 and to adjust additional interest rate to
interest free for the period from 1 October 2013 to 30 June 2015.

All other terms and conditions in the supplemental agreements
remain the same as those of the original loan agreements.

The directors of the Company consider that the Loan A and Loan
B together with interest accrued thereon would be included in the
negotiations for the sale of the rare earth refinery and processing
business as such these borrowings and interest payable were
reclassified to liabilities directly associated with assets classified as
held for sale accordingly.

15. 2RABEUEZEE "AFE (&)
friE ()

(b) (&)

RZTE—=FAATIB ARAER—HE2EHK
& A Al B Hondex] 37 7R B 17 - HondexA RS (B
FA%0.17%8 TR 500,000,000 A A 7B - B

7$50,000,0008 7T - ZENRER BB
BERbZ R EE (BAF31) -

BER - =ZF=-A-_+HBEFTZ2E M
HE BERR2ERAS  KEEF S REIH
MER-_Z—NE+_AFHEREE - R =_F
—ME=A=+N\B ARRRZEENBARHE
Hondexs] L B M A i W BEERER
ReBRAEEFNEZIHATCEE S —AF
NAZ=THHondexAIBEHRIRIEE —HDE T
HEENAEZE—=ZFNA=THLZ2HE
INFIE W ERFIRHEFSEAREGES
BE-BZF—=Ft+A—HREX BRI
TZ—=F+A—HBHEZZ—RAFNA=THHH

BN EHBEERS

BER-_ZEZ—=F=F_t+hBEIZ2E—HHE
e BEROZERAS  REEF S REINF
BERZZ—NF+_ARHEHEE - R-22—N
FZAZTNB ARARZZENBAREE
ROZERANFT N E—_DEaipE AiGESRE
BEFASERAREENSZIBHTEZE_Z
—HAEXRNA=1+H BERZZERARE#RSZ

REF-—DHEAMEMENFE=F—

=tHIEZ2HFINE (REBZMNBERRER
REEZRAEED D BERES ARE16,000,000
TN ERFEREF13ERAEERE A=
T+ BHEER @RRARE-_F—=
F+A-—BAE-_T-AENA=-tBEHMZEIN

FERAREZRE -

I A A SR R R B R E R G

LD

ARFEERR BEHHERLAMTEBRES
AARRFRERCEREFFES RER
EERENMNECHEEN DB READ BRFE

HEZBEEERMBZAR:




16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

16. W% BMERKRE

Leasehold Leasehold Furniture
Leasehold land and improve- Plant and Motor and  Construction
buildings buildings ments  machinery vehicles fixtures  in progress Total
RELHE
i £ BT HENEEE RERES e BRREE ERIR @i
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000
T FET T FET A7 AT AT iz
THE GROUP A%R
Cost A
At 1 April 2012 RZZE-_FMA-H 83,112 424 39 61,017 2,293 1,666 4318 156,686
Additions Gt 1,947 - 1617 5722 - 28 1357 10,671
Reclassification ENNE 1976 - - 3,704 - - (5,680) -
Redlassified as held for sale (Wore 75) B S EASIELE (Hi215) (79,256) - - (41,592) (1) - - (121,044)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Vote 34) HEMBAR (Hi24) - - - - - 2 - 21
Exchange realignment ENAE 103 5 - 75 2 - 5 190
At 31 March 2013 RZE-=F=A=1-H 7,882 4,246 1,656 28,926 2,099 1,667 - 46,476
At 1 April 2013 RZF-Z4MmA-A 7,882 4246 1,656 28,926 2,09 1,667 - 46,476
Additions ik - - - - - 51 - 51
Disposals H& - - - - (101) (638) - (739
Exchange realignment EiAE 149 80 3 546 24 10 - 840
At 31 March 2014 R-E-ME=A=1-A 8,031 4326 1,687 29,472 2,022 1,090 - 46,628
Depreciation, amortisation and E BERHAE
impairment
At 1 April 2012 R-E--FMA-B 1326 4,065 39 783 1,061 1,207 - 15,530
Depreciation provided for the year TEERERE 2,888 17 995 8811 269 166 - 13,146
Eliminated on reclassification BN AL EREH
as held for sale (hote 13) (Hiit15) (3,090) - - (5,953) (40) - - (9,083)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Aote 34) EWBAR (Hit34) - - - - - (9 - 9
Exchange realignment ENAE 2 5 - 10 - - - 17
At 31 March 2013 RZE-Z£=R=1-H 1,126 4,087 1,034 10,700 1,290 1364 - 19,601
At 1 April 2013 RZF-Z4RmA-A 1,126 4,087 1,034 10,700 1,290 1,364 - 19,601
Depreciation provided for the year TEENERE 391 18 634 3,840 216 17 - 5216
Eliminated on disposal HEBHE - - - - (32) (638) - (670)
Exchange realignment EHHE 2 7 19 202 9 6 - 335
At 31 March 2014 R-E-RmE=A=1-A 1,539 4182 1,687 14,742 1,483 849 - 24,482
Net book values BERE
At 31 March 2014 RZE-BEZA=1-A 6,492 144 - 14,730 539 b - 22,146
At 31 March 2013 R-E-ZfZA=1-H 6,756 159 622 18,226 809 303 - 26,875
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB ERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

1 08 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

The Group's leasehold buildings are situated in the PRC held

under medium term lease.

The Group's leasehold land and buildings are situated in the PRC
held under long term lease. As the prepaid land lease payment
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease payment is included in the cost of
land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment in accordance with HKAS 16.

Depreciation expense of HK$4,056,000 (2013: HK$6,023,000)
has been expensed in cost of sales and HK$1,160,000 (2013:
HK$7,123,000) in administrative expenses.

At 31 March 2014, the Group's leasehold buildings with
carrying value of HK$6,492,000 (2013: HK$6,756,000) are
pledged to secure bank borrowing granted to the Group (Note
28).

16.

M BERRE (E)
AEBZHEEFURTERARBMBELOFAE -

AEBEZEELHMREFLRHERAKHHE
AFE - mRTAN LI EFRIE RN Lt R E
FHoRASEL DA At 2 HERARES
AEFEAE16RLYME BELRKBZRER
ERERIHEBTFHRAZA-

FrEMLZ T 4,056,000 (2% —=4:
6,023,000 ) E RN HER AR ZE M
1,160,000 7t (=T — =% :7,123,000/ 7T)
RIRTTEREB AR 8-

RZE—NF=ZA=+—B AKEEEES
6,492,000/ 5t (= F — =4 :6,756,000% JT )
ZHEEFOEERF UERAEEERZET
B8 (Hi728) -




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_Z—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

16. M%¥ BMERKRE ()

Leasehold Furniture and
improvements fixtures Total
HEWEHE BRREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
THE COMPANY PN
Cost A
At 1 April 2012 R-ZE——F/M/F—H 39 492 531
Additions g - 27 27
At 31 March 2013 and at RZZT—ZF=ZA=+—HBK
31 March 2014 RZBE—NFE=A=+—H 39 519 558
Depreciation e
At 1 April 2012 N—ZE——FYA—H 39 353 392
Depreciation provided for the year REETERE - 62 62
At 31 March 2013 R—E—=F=A=+—H 39 415 454
At 1 April 2013 R-_ZE—=FMA—H 39 415 454
Depreciation provided for the year NEETERE - 45 45
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE-—-mE=A=+—8 39 460 499
Net book values BREEE
At 31 March 2014 R-Z-WmE=A=+—8 - 59 59
At 31 March 2013 RZE—=F=A=+—H - 104 104
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

The Group’s interests in land use rights are outside Hong Kong

with medium term leases.

At 31 March 2014, the Group’s land use rights with carrying
value of HK$11,436,000 (2013: HK$11,711,000) are pledged to
secure bank borrowing granted to the Group (Note 28).

1 1 O China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

17. LAND USE RIGHTS 17. T HufEFAFE
The Group
AEE
2014 2013
—E-mE —F—=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FrET
Cost R AR
At 1 April KU A—AH 13,210 18,667
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 15) BEFOBABIELRE (KiF15) - (5,480)
Exchange realignment M 5 38 & 249 23
At 31 March R=A=+—H 13,459 13,210
Accumulated amortisation B
At 1 April LS Rl =! 1,499 1,040
Charged for the year REFENBR 495 598
Eliminated on reclassification BN BARBIELERHHE
as held for sale (Note 15) (Brat15) - (140)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 & 29 1
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2,023 1,499
Net book value REEE
At 31 March W=A=+—8H 11,436 11,711

EHHBEORE-

ZRITEE (Ma28) -

AEER T EREZERURBBAIN LR

RZE-ME=-A=+—B AKEREESR
11,436,000/ 7T (= F — =4 :11,711,000/8
TU) 2 L AT AR R RA R B R




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

B mERWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—NF=A=+—HBIEFE

18. GOODWILL 18. &
The Group
TEH
2014 2013
—E-NF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost A
At 1 April KU A—AH 23,592 195,129
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 15) BB ARELE (Wit15) - (171,748)
Exchange realignment M 5 38 & - 211
At 31 March R=ZA=t—H 23,592 23,592
At 31 March 2014, the amount represents goodwill arising from RZE—NF=A=+—H ZREEHZZ
acquisition of 80% equity interest in Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray —ZTF=/[= Jr A iEFE ) “T@ﬂﬁmﬂ
Technologies Co. Limited during the year ended 31 March 2010. ERREMAR AR Z80%MIEMEE ZmE-
Impairment tests for goodwill BERENR
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been RETRENR BHEESEZBEMINER
allocated to the group of cash-generating units (CGU) SREI Bz —HREEESU([REEELS
comprising the gamma ray irradiation services segment. firl) e
The recoverable amount of the gamma ray irradiation services IS ST AR BT AR I 275 < AT R Bl 2 BB h iR (B R (B
operation has been determined based on a value in use Bt EAEE - ﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁ”ﬁfﬁpﬁrﬁ/ﬁﬂﬁm?ﬁlﬁ
calculation, which uses a cash flow projection based on financial HEZ AFHPBEEET RS RETEA -
forecast approved by management covering a 5-year period. The emETERER 2 BATITIE X B24.54% (;
pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projection is 24.54% T—=%:2263%) HBRAFHIBESREF
(2013: 22.63%) and cash flow beyond the 5-year period is AT REEE - NI ERFREDHREEE
extrapolated using zero growth rate. The recoverable amount FEfzAKBeESREREE- AL R_F
of the CGU of gamma ray irradiation services segment is higher —NE=A=+—HAR_T—Z=F=ZA=+—
than the carrying amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss HREREEFRREBEL L -

charge needed to be made against the goodwill as at 31 March
2014 and 31 March 2013.

Management determined the budgeted sales and gross margins EREEBRATRR HMBERZEHRFEZ
based on past performance, expectation for the market SEERBATHEEHEEREMNE -FAMNBAEX
development and planned production strategy. The discount rate B AT IR & - e bR 2R NI 5 43 R 5T AR 7% A R 2
used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to gamma ray R Rk -

irradiation services.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSET 19. BEEE

The Group
rEH
2014 2013
—E-NF —E—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost R A
At 1 April R A—AB - 547,472
Reclassified as held for sale (Note 15) BB ARELE (Mit15) - (548,148)
Exchange realignment M 5 3B - 676
At 31 March WR=A=+—H - -
Accumulated amortisation and B BHEREE
impairment
At 1 April KU A—AH - 13,687
Amortisation for the year NEEHH - 50,364
Impairment for the year (Note) NEERME (H77) - 82,346
Eliminated on reclassification B O BRAFEL SR
as held for sale (Note 15) (B1at15) - (146,413)
Exchange realignment ME N B - 16
At 31 March W=A=+—H - -
Net book value REFE
At 31 March W=ZA=+—H - -
The amortisation charge for the year was included in REFHEIHHABEZE S —=F=A=+—

administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement

for the year ended 31 March 2013.

1 1 2 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE—T-—ME=A=+—BILFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued)

Note: The intangible asset relates to the technical know-how technology
to convert rare earth concentrates into a variety of rare earth
products. The technical know-how has a finite useful life and its
estimated useful life is 10 years.

For the purpose of impairment test, the recoverable amount had
been assessed on 30 September 2012 by reference to a valuation
prepared by Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent valuer,
determined based on the value in use calculations, which used
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management covering a 9.5-year period with discount rate of
28.22% per annum. The discount rate used reflects specific risk
relating to the rare resources industry. As the recoverable amount
was less than its carrying amount as at 30 September 2012,
accordingly an impairment of approximately of HK$82,346,000 was
charged to the consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 March 2013. The circumstances leading to the impairment was
mainly due to changes in the market situation in 2012 and 2013,
e.g. price drop, decrease in demand, PRC government policies
controlling the supply of rare earth raw materials etc., particularly
since August 2012, the whole rare earth industry has been
disrupted.

20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

BEAEE (&)
M \RAERERHIAESLASERLESZ

BRITRE AR - BRMAREEBRA A FH
HEst Al A ERR105F -

BETRER $E@E#:?71¢nﬂ
=TH2BBUGEEMESHRTHEERA
Bz EE &ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ%&&ﬁﬁ%@%
BOmMERABESEENBEEEEIEZ9S
FHMKBEERET RS REREA WEXA
FHE2822% - FTANMBERRBER+ERE
BHAZEERK ARITKESEENEE =
T——FAA=Z+HZERE REOREE=
T—=F=A=+—HIEFEZHRAKERN
% 4982,346,000/% 7T 2 Jil (B - B B IR E +
BRAN - —FN_T-=ZFEIHRAE
(BB T B TR FEBFBRRIESH
TRMEHES) LHERBE-ZT—ZFNA
AR EERL1TEL RS-

20. RMIB AT 2R

The Company

b NN
2014 2013
—ET—-mF —E—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unlisted shares, at cost SEEMARG - K AE - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W Bt B A R RIB
- non-current —JERE 518,096 517,507
Allowance for impairment B B E (448,639) (448,639)
69,457 68,868
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE U B B A B 5RIE
— current —mE 105,004 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBBERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

20.

1 1 4 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The Company’s cost of investments in the unlisted shares of its
directly held subsidiaries is less than HK$1,000.

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and
have no fixed term of repayment. In the opinion of the Directors,
the amounts will not be recovered within twelve months of the
balance sheet date and are accordingly classified as non-current.

In view of the subsidiaries which sustained losses and had poor
operating performance, not financially capable of repaying to
the Company, the Directors opined that it is appropriate to
make an allowance for impairment of HK$448,639,000 (2013:
HK$448,639,000) after considering the profitability, financial
positions, cash flows and future prospects of these subsidiaries.

20. RMYBAR 2= (&)

ARRIREEERFEZHNB AR ZIELETRG
WERARDR1,0008 7T °

JE WP a8 2 B BOR S R R - 8 R B B K
H-BEZRR FHERBATERNEFART T
EARYKE-Eit - ZEFRACDBRIFRE -

ERZENBARBEEBREERETER
B|PTREENAARREN EFENEEZENE
REZ BN BBHR - BeRE RARA
S 1% 7 B1EH448,639,0008 T (— T — =4
448,639,000/ 70) < MEREERHE -

Movements on the allowance account are as follows: BERz2ZEESHNOT
2014 2013
—2-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of the year R F ) 448,639 366,799
Impairment loss recognised FRiER 2 R EEE - 81,840
At end of the year NGRS 448,639 448,639

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2014 are set out in Note 43.

The summarised financial information relating to a 54% owned
subsidiary of the Group, Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth
Technology Company Limited, that has non-controlling interest
material to the Group has not been disclosed in accordance
with HKFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” as that
subsidiary has been included in the assets/liabilities classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” for the year
ended 31 March 2013 and 2014. Details of the assets/liabilities
classified as held for sale are disclosed in note 15.

ARRAEZEETEMBATNR - -—NF=A=+—
B2 FBAE N 43 -

HEAREEEEA% R IMBRARZEHKKR
MEIMBRERAR (ZARESHAEENEFE
BERZFERER) MR ZHBERNMEL ER
REBMBMELERNE 125 [RENEMER
BE ZRETURE REAZMBARER
BE_ =K -T-NF=ZA=+—HI
FERBEAMBRELEANESH [FIFLHEZ
FERDEERCRIEEEER] ZREFADE
REELEZEE BB BRSO EARELE
ZEE/ABZFBERIEISHE-




21.

22.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Bt %%

For the year ended 31 March 2014

wRME (&)

HE_Z-—NF=A=+—HIFE

INVENTORIES 21. 78
The Group
KEE
2014 2013
—E-OF —E-=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
The amount of inventories recognised as FARRARAZI 2 GEESRHE:
an expense during the year:
Carrying amount of inventories sold EHEFEZEREE 34,930 45,292
Write-down of inventories WO FE 2,066 -
Reversal of write-down of inventories BOMOBRTE - (3,682)
36,996 41,610
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 22. BRYPYE
The Group
KEE
2014 2013
—E-OF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of the year NG| - 43,777
Additions g - 25
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) HEMWB AR (Hit34) - (43,481)
Exchange realignment P& W F & - (321)
At end of the year R 4& - -

The properties under development represented medium term

land use rights in the PRC.

BERPMEFENTEZD AL ERE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EHESRHEMERE
The Group The Company
N PN

2014 2013 2014 2013
“E-mE “E-=% —E-mF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Trade receivables JEWE SRR 255 3,140 - -
Less: allowance for impairment B RERE - 2,632 - -
Trade receivables, net EWZEHEE FE 255 508 - -
Other receivables and prepayments H U BRI R B B 56,607 56,825 104 111
56,862 57,333 104 1M
In the opinion of the Directors, all of the above trade and BEERR LA ERKE 5 & EMARIATE R A]

other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as R—FAKE S ERRBFRE -

expense within one year.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and EERRERBESREMEBE 2 RAEBEHEAR
other receivables approximate to their fair values. FEMEE -

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to 90 AEERTHESREFPFHN F60HE90H 2
days to its trade customers. The following is an analysis of EEH-UTAERBREZAHNZINN ERESRE
trade receivables by age, presented based on the invoice date. BEREIT - U TOMBREEASERABELE
The analysis below includes those classified as part of assets ZEAERRN (EMBRRERRE)E:

classified as held for sale, net of allowance for doubtful debts:

2014 2013

—E-NEF =4

HK$'000 HK$000

FHET FET

Up to 30 days 30HA 22,545 6,916
31 to 90 days 31E90H 36 67
91 to 365 days 91%E365H 177 252
22,758 7,235

1 1 6 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements on the allowance for impairment are as follows:

23.

FEWE S R HEAMRE (4F)
BERBZEZBMT

The Group
rEH

2014 2013
—E-OF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of the year NG 2,632 2,632
Uncollectible amount written off il 85 A 5% U (B 5018 (2,632) -
At end of the year T 4% - 2,632

At 31 March 2013, trade receivables of HK$2,632,000 were
impaired and full amount of allowance for impairment had been
recognised. The individually impaired receivables mainly related
to a number of customers that have remained long overdue.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are considered
to be impaired is as follows:

RZZE—=ZF=ZA=Z+—8 RBUESEKE
2,632,000 ;L2 FIRE W B B E R (E B
EeBE -ERECENEEEIZSREE R
REZBE -

AEERBEAETREZEKEZRBRE DT
LA

The Group
KEE
2014 2013
—E-ImF —E—=fF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET TFET

Over 2 years past due B HA R B2 F

- 2,632
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB ERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. EWES REMIRE (&)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not AEBRREARECEREZIRBERRNT

considered to be impaired is as follows: /N
The Group
rEE

2014 2013

—E-NF =5

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Not yet past due i 7 780 A 220 433

Less than 6 months past due BH AR 6ME A 35 75

255 508

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is
the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned above. The

RERAAAR ZEREERARR LS HE

WHRTE 2 A 18 - AR B E 5L

AER/BREE

MEMREMEREE AN EEEERT
BATA R R E 5 & H A 3R IR BE 8 5 O &

other receivables are neither past due nor impaired with good HE o

Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements

over these balances. All of the other classes within trade and

credit quality.

EUE 5 R H A RIAT B I AR QR4
ERAINNER BB 25

Included in trade and other receivables is the following amount
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of

the Company to which they relate:

The Group
rEH
2014 2013
—E—mF —E—=
‘000 ‘000
Fr Fr
Renminbi N 9,654 16,985

1 1 8 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 24, BRAFEFAEBEZEREE
OR LOSS
The Group
AEE
2014 2013
—E-OF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Listed securities held for trading: BIEEBEZ EMESF
— Equity securities — Hong Kong, —-BRABHF-BE EME
at market value 19,604 38,845
None of the carrying amount of interest in listed securities RWEZEER EmESF R 2 REEL BB
exceeds 10% of total assets of the Group at both balance sheet REBEEELMBE210% °
dates.
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. BeRAELEHEEA
The Group The Company
rEE b NN
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mF =% —E-mF —2-=%
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Bank balances and cash RIOTEBREASE 33,453 56,437 3,092 53,212
Cash and bank balances included FADBEARBELEZHE
in a disposal group classified BRIZRE RBTES
as held for sale (Note 75) (HiEt15) 73 201 - -

33,526 56,638 3,092 53,212
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 25. ReRARELEHEEE (B)
Included in cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet are FFAEEABEXR2 R RBESSEEERET
the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the FIARRRIMEEEEUINEB REL 28

functional currency of the Company to which they relate:

The Group The Company
X&E NN
2014 2013 2014 2013
—B-mE —E-=F% “E-QmF —2-=%
000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
FT T F FT
United States Dollars e 5 5 - _
Renminbi AR 3,197 2,403 - -
Japanese Yen = 20 20 20 20
Malaysian Ringgit BRART 1 1 1 1
26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. BENESRAEMRE
The Group The Company
S PN
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mE —Z2-=% “E-QmF —2-=%
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
FT 7T Fr FT
Trade payables FERTE 55EE 3 1 - -
Other payables and accruals H b BT ARIE R BT B 29,218 37,404 3,215 6,626
29,221 37,405 3,215 6,626
In the opinion of the Directors, all of the trade and other EERR MARNE S RAMBREEF TN —
payables are expected to be settled or recognised as income FRINKABRABBRAXEEREE-
within one year or are repayable on demand.
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and EERRENESREAMBE REERAERD
other payables approximate to their fair value. FEMEE -

1 20 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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27.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The following is an analysis of trade payables by age based on
the invoice date. The analysis below includes those classified as
part of liabilities classified as held for sale:

26.

ERESRHEMIRE (&)
NTAENREZAHZENE ZREBERRD T
NTOMBEGASERFELE ZEEHER
%

2014 2013

—E-NF —E—=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Up to 30 days 30 20,987 6,173
31 to 90 days 31290H 3 -
Over 90 days HB3E90R 38,654 38,066
59,644 44,239

Included in trade and other payables is the following amount

BENESREMEBBSETINARAYGEE

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of BANER BEMN 2S5 !
the Company to which they relate:
The Group
TEH
2014 2013
—E-NF —E—=

‘000 ‘000

FT Fr
Australian dollar SR IT 14 14
Renminbi AR® 19,962 21,404

AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
The Directors are of the opinion that the amount is not
repayable in the next twelve months from the balance sheet

date and is therefore shown as non-current.

27.

PEAS B BB 2 B FE 4R IR IR R AR TH

N BAREERREREBREEA 28R
BEEERA -EERR/BEHTEEEE QR
TZEARTEREREE Rid RIERD -
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B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

28.

1 22 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

28. RITRHEMEE

The Group The Company
N3 NN
2014 2013 2014 2013
“E-mF “E-=% —E-mF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Current nE
Bank borrowing - secured (Note a) BOEE-BER (Ha) 10,063 - - -
Non-current FRE
Bank borrowing - secured (Note a) ROEE-FER (Mia) - 9,877 - -
Other borrowing - unsecured HifgE - BE7
- Loan from a company controlled by -—HEEREEH A
a substantial shareholder (Note b) PR Z B (Mitb) 33,500 56,790 - -
Placing notes (Note ¢) EERE (Hitc) 18,544 - 18,544 -
52,044 66,667 18,544 -
Total bank and other borrowings BROREMEERSE 62,107 66,667 18,544 -
The Group The Company
S NN
2014 2013 2014 2013
ZE-ImF —T-=F —B-@mF —T-=%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Bank borrowing repayable ERTISEERZRITEE
Within one year —ER 10,063 - - -
In the second year E-F - 9,877 - -
10,063 9,877 - -
Other borrowings repayable ERATSEEEEMEE
In the second year E-F 33,500 56,790 - -
After five years hFK 18,544 - 18,544 -
Total bank and other borrowings ROREMEERE 62,107 66,667

18,544 -




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—WNF=A=+—HBIEFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 28.
The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current
borrowings are as follows:

RITREMEE (B)
EREFEEZREERAFENT

2014 2013
—B-RE —F-=F
Carrying amount Fair value  Carrying amount Fair value
REE AYE EEE ATE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
THE GROUP Y -
Bank borrowing BTEE - - 9,877 8,829
Other borrowing HEfEE 33,500 26,869 56,790 47,608
Placing notes RERRK 18,544 18,544 - -
52,044 45,413 66,667 56,437
THE COMPANY VN
Placing notes LERE 18,544 18,544 - -
The carrying amount of short-term bank borrowing and placing DRVRR A KBRS R 2 R HERITEE R
notes carried at cost and amortised cost respectively are REZEBRCFRABEREAFEEE FERBR
approximate to their fair values. The fair value of non-current TEERZ=ZTE—=%=A=+—H Z“ﬁfﬁﬁ
bank borrowing as at 31 March 2013 was based on cash flows BENEER7 76BN R 2B REFNE - /H\ﬁﬁ
discounted using a rate based on the borrowing rate of 7.76%. BEZ XTFEBEAZRRF X451
The fair value of the other borrowing is based on cash flows —=%F: 3.591_)EEﬁZﬂ%?ﬁfﬁZfﬁi\ﬁ%
discounted using a rate based on the risk free rate of 4.51% AE CRURATESAFECZEF_ER-
(2013: 3.59%) and is within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Borrowings include the following amount denominated in the BEBETINUARATNEERE (OBx) AIINE
currency other than the Company's functional currency, HK MRBAzERE
dollars:
The Group The Company
N PN
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E2-[mF ZE-=% —E-mF =%
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
Fr FIT Fr FIL
54,000 - -

Renminbi ARE 8,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-_T—NF=A=+—HILFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 28. BITREMEE (B)

29.

1 24 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Notes:

(@) The bank borrowing matures on 23 September 2014 and
the average effective interest rate of the bank borrowing is
approximately 7.48% (2013: 7.76%) per annum. At 31 March
2014 and 31 March 2013, the bank borrowing is secured by certain
leasehold buildings and land use rights of the Group (Notes 16 and
17).

(b)  The loan is interest free, unsecured and has no fixed terms of
repayment. The Directors are of the opinion that this loan is not
repayable in the next twelve months from the balance sheet date
and is therefore shown as non-current.

() On 20 August 2013, the Company entered into a placing

agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with a placing agent (the
“Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to place,
through the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, the notes up
to an aggregate amount of HK$300,000,000 to be issued by the
Company in the denomination of HK$2,000,000 each (the “Placing
Notes”) to independent third parties (the “Placing”). Pursuant to
the Placing Agreement, the Placing Notes carry interest at 5% per
annum and are to be redeemed on the seventh anniversary from
the respective issue dates of the Placing Notes. The Company
may early redeem in whole the Placing Notes at a redemption
price equal to the principal amount together with accrued interest
after the third anniversary from the respective issue dates of the
Placing Notes. Details of the Placing were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 20 August 2013.

CONVERTIBLE NOTE
On 8 March 2011,
agreement (as amended by a supplemental agreement dated 3

the Company entered into a subscription

May 2011) to issue 3-years 1% convertible note in a principal
amount of HK$105,000,000 to Mega Market Assets Limited.
Mega Market Assets Limited is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. The issue of the convertible note was completed on
17 October 2011.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, the convertible note is
convertible at the option of the noteholder into ordinary shares
on or after 17 October 2011 up to and including 17 October
2014 on the basis of one ordinary share with a par value of
HK$0.01 each at an initial conversion price of HK$0.27 per
share, subject to adjustments in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the subscription agreement in certain events.

29.

Haz -

(a) WRITBEERZZT—WFAAZFT=B5H RITE
BZz¥HE B@iﬂ WREETAE(ZT—=F:
776E) MZE—NF=ZA=+—HAE=T—=
FZA=+—H RITEEULEEETHER
FRAMEAEERR (FiF16K17) -

FEREBLE EEARBEEEERP -EFR
EZ% EREANGEREFRE+ ZEARNE
. I:§| E’gE//IL@J

f“ﬂlﬁi@?

(00 MIZZE—Z=ZFN\A-1+H ARAHE—-ZERER
B ([RERBITEEHZ ([REHE])
Bt ARRRAEERRERER|NELRE
AN E S T EETT AR G 4858 £ %300,000,00078 7T &
T ) HEE2,000,0008 T2 ZE ([BEEE]) T
BUFE=F ([REFHE]) - $E‘<%Fﬁaﬁtﬁ%~vﬁa‘i
ZRIBEFHNERSEE  AERENERERER2H
THHREHELBEFER - AR ﬂ‘m@fﬁ@ﬂ%
ERBETHREGEZBFRUESRASE
EREAFEZENERNEHERREE ;‘H@
FAREFE HBEIRNERAAIBAR-Z
FENAZTHZRATA-

CIE: Y §

RZE——F=ZANB ARARLRE R
(KB AE-_ZT——FRAA-HZHETWBEE
7]) ' BA[AIMega Market Assets Limited# 17
&% 4105,000,0008 T2 =FH1IERE A8
% 2= % - Mega Market Assets Limited &7 A &
LEERR - BT MBREE-—FER T ——
FrATEREK:

BERERZ ZEEFBATB-Z—F 1+ A
+HAKZERE-_T—NF+A+LH (B
ZB)IEEE - RS EBRESR27E T (7]
BEREREZERIRGEHEETERLTED
AR MREEERAEGREE.VIETLL
T EA -




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (continued)

As a result of the placing of existing shares and top-up
subscription of new shares on 13 March 2013, the conversion
price has been adjusted from HK$0.27 per share to HK$0.2422
per share. As a result of the issue of 500,000,000 ordinary
shares on 27 September 2013, the conversion price has been
adjusted from HK$0.2422 per share to HK$0.2158 per share.

Unless previously converted, redeemed, purchased or cancelled,
any convertible note not converted will be redeemed by
the Company on 17 October 2014 at its principal amount
outstanding together with all accrued and unpaid interest
thereon. The convertible note carries interest at 1% per annum,
which is payable half-yearly in arrears.

At initial recognition, the convertible note is separated into a
liability component consisting of the straight debt element and
an equity component representing the conversion options of
the noteholder to convert the convertible note into equity. The
equity component is presented as convertible note reserve in
equity, whereas the liability component is classified under non-
current liabilities. The proceeds received from the issue of the
convertible note have been split as follows:

(i)  Liability component represents the fair value of the
contractually determined stream of cash flows discounted
at the prevailing market interest rate applicable to
instruments of comparable credit status and providing
substantially the same cash flows, on the same terms, but
without the conversion features. The interest charged for
the period is calculated by applying an effective interest
rate of 7.757% to the liability component since the
convertible note was issued.

(i) Equity component represents the conversion options,
which is determined by deducting the fair value of the
liability component from the proceeds of issue of the
convertible note as a whole.

29.

AR EE (&)
HRE-_Z—=F=-A+-HEERERMHRE
HERBEBHRMD Bt - RREEHER0.27HE
TABRAEBR02422EBTT -HRE_T—=FN
A = ++ B 377500,000,0000% % & A% - A1t
AR E D mERR0.2422 T H B A EM%0.2158
T e

BROELEAEH R BEREH TREKRRL
BZEATBEEETHEARAR -F—MF
TATERERHREERSFERMAET R
AN SED - m iR R IR FEFRIER S
MESFFRPRIM-

RIS HERE AT RREES RESEREBE T
EZ BB EESAS  MEAND NRERS
BARBABRER SRS 2 BEE T EES
NI RABEREFHE MEELEIROELKE
RBEE BITARRERZEREAEHIEAD
B RATE S :

(y BEBR HEARBETRESREZATE:
TREEBLAEEYREARHARR S
T ERIMARR - B SRS 2 T AR
A ZIRITTIS R R I IR - AR HIBR 2 F
BHBTAIRARERRE RAGHLHINUE
B %7 757EEHE -

(i) Rmaby  IEmAE BB EIT AR
REZBEMSFEATMREERLD ZA
FEEE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB ERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-_T—NF=A=+—HILFE

29. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (continued)
The movement of the liability component and the equity
component of the convertible note for the year is set out below:

29.

ARBRERE (&)
FRBRIEL R EED R B EREE L
m

The Group and The Company

AEEREAT
2014 2013
—E-NF T =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Liability component at beginning of REVZBEHD

the year 94,823 88,848
Imputed interest expense (Note 8) HEMBS L (HiE8) 7,499 7,025
Interest expense e (1,050) (1,050)
Liability component at end of the year RERZBERD 101,272 94,823

No conversion, redemption or purchase and cancellation of the

convertible note has occurred up to 31 March 2014.

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible
note at 31 March 2014 amounted to HK$102,256,000 (2013:
HK$97,168,000). The fair value is calculated using cash flows
discounted at the rates of 6.85% to 6.92% (2013: 6.40% to
6.56%) based on the borrowing rate plus an adequate constant
credit spread, adjusted for the Group's own credit risk and is
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

BE-T-WF=ZA=1+—H1 AJBEZEH
%%ﬁ%?@‘ﬂ;@ﬁﬁ%@ﬂﬁﬁﬁ"

ARREBEZEBBIRZE—NF=A=+—
EZL\E?TEENOZ,ZS&OOO/%TE(_?*EE-
97,168,000/ 7T) ° A& Ty A LAfE B %6.85
EZ6.92FE (= — =%:6.40F £6.56/F ) #T
BrREREFE SMERZEETEEEE
THAERERE ZEERBIELAR BN
TEHERHEZE=EAN-
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30. DEFERRED TAXATION

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -

B mERWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—WNF=A=+—HBIEFE

30.

Details of deferred tax liabilities and amount charged to

consolidated income statement are as follows:

I SE B IH
ERERBRAERAEFARERAKZEBZH
BT

THE GROUP NEH
Properties
held for sale Others Total
BEHEYE Hit @gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2012 E{‘\:g*_ipﬂﬂ =] 5,375 2,284 7,659
(Credited)/Charged to consolidated RirBWEER (GTA) ik
income statement (Note 11) (BtaE11) (5,382) 1,935 (3,447)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) HEWB AR (Kit34) - (1,380) (1,380)
Reclassified to liabilities directly BN EERSHEARBIELEZ
associated with assets classified BEEEEEBAzEE
held for sale (Note 15) (Htzt15) - (1,507) (1,507)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 5 2 7 9) )
At 31 March 2013 R_ZE-—=F=A=+—H - 1,323 1,323
Charged to consolidated income statement R4r A U R ING (Hat11)
(Note 11) - 153 153
Reclassified to liabilities directly B EEEDE 7%%1’!551'%2
associated with assets classified BEEEEEEZ
held for sale (Note 15) (H1eE15) - (153) (153)
Exchange realignment ME 5 55 2 - 14 14
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE-—HE=A=+—H

At 31 March 2014, the Group has unutilised tax losses of
approximately HK$256,908,000 (2013: HK$256,292,000), part
of which has not yet been agreed with the Hong Kong Inland

Revenue Department, available for offset against future profits.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the

tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Included in unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2014 were losses
of approximately HK$27,564,000 (2013: HK$27,713,000) that
would expire in five years and the remaining balance would not

expire under the current tax legislation.

B 1,337 1,337

R-ZE—NEZA=+—8 AEEAHENE
Hom M 2 KRB 5 B 49/5256,908,000/8 7T
—E— =% :256,292,000/0) ' S E A
KESEEBRBERBRAE AR TEEET AR EF
TR MU RRZENBEERRECEHEE
E-R-T-—NE=ZA=+—8 FARPAH
18 2 B184927,564,0008 T (— T — =4 :
27,713,000 70 ) ATE M A F N EIH - MR T 4
BBRBIRITR B AL ER A -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB ERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

30. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 30.
At 31 March 2014, the Group has other deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$40,000 (2013: HK$54,000).

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary differences as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. These deductible
temporary differences do not expire under the current tax

EEBIE (&)

R-E—NFEZA=Z+—HB AEEEHEMATI
RERZER£440,0008 7T (ZF— =4 :54,000
P TT) o AR AT B N & B A FE R B a I A LA 8
AMBEREZE RUERZSUNHEREZE
BRIEEHIBEE - BIBRITBEEN - %50
MR E=ETEHA -

legislation.
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BA&
Number of
shares Amount
RO EE k|
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each: EREEIIBTZEER:
Authorised: JETE -
At 1 April 2012, 31 March 2013 and R-—E——FmA—H-
31 March 2014 —E-=F=A=+—HK
—E-NME=A=+—H 15,000,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: EZETRHE -
At 1 April 2012 R-E——F1/F—H 3,373,681,490 33,737
Exercise of share options (Note a) TTERE AR RE (M ita) 5,000,000 50
Issue of shares (Note b) BTG (Bath) 420,000,000 4,200
At 31 March 2013 RZTE—=F=A=+—H 3,798,681,490 37,987
Issue of shares (Note ¢) BT (W Etc) 500,000,000 5,000
At 31 March 2014 R-ZZE-—NmE=A=+—8 4,298,681,490 42,987
Notes: Htat -

(a)  During the year ended 31 March 2013, options were exercised
to subscribe for 5,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a
consideration of HK$580,000 of which HK$50,000 was credited to
share capital and the balance of HK$530,000 was credited to the
share premium account together with a transfer of HK$134,000
from the share options reserve to the share premium account.

1 28 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

REE-_ST-—=F=-A=+t—HALEE ERE
HEATE - K {580,000/ JT 72 B5,000,000% A&
AR LR H 50,0008 T ARRA - 644
530,000/ T A EF AR & B8R - I B IR AE &
88 3134,000/8 7T E RN B R -




31.

32.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B wmERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—NF=A=+—HBIEFE

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)  On 13 March 2013, Mega Market Assets Limited (“Mega Market"),
a substantial shareholder of the Company, placed an aggregate
420,000,000 existing ordinary shares of the Company to certain
independent third parties, at a price of HK$0.097 per share, for
a total cash consideration of HK$40,740,000, and Mega Market
subscribed for 420,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company
at the same price on 21 March 2013. The net proceeds of
HK$40,075,000, out of which HK$4,200,000 and HK$35,875,000
were recorded in share capital and share premium respectively,
were intended to be used as general working capital of the Group.

(c)  Pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 19 September 2013
entered into between the Company, Jumbo Wealth International
Limited (“Jumbo Wealth"”), a subsidiary wholly owned by
the Company, and Hondex Investments Limited (“Hondex"),
Hondex subscribed for 500,000,000 shares of the Company
at a subscription price HK$0.1 each for a consideration of
HK$50,000,000, which was settled by way of capitalisation of part
of the loan due from Jumbo Wealth to Hondex. The capitalised
amount of HK$49,866,000 (after deducting transaction costs of
HK$134,000) was recorded in share capital and share premium at
HK$5,000,000 and HK$44,866,000 respectively.

All the ordinary shares issued during the year ranked pari passu
with the existing ordinary shares in all respects.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 24 April 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2002 Scheme”) which, unless otherwise terminated, will
remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 24 April
2002. At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
22 August 2011, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “2011 Scheme”) in place of the 2002 Scheme.
Upon the 2011 Scheme becoming unconditional and effective
on 23 August 2011, the 2002 Scheme was terminated on the
same date. Nevertheless, share options granted under the 2002
Scheme prior to its termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

31.

32.

B (48)
M ()

(b) RZZT—=F=ZA+=H A2AAEZREMega
Market Assets Limited ([Mega Market ] )& &
fRO.097B Tz BEMETBLE=FEREE#
420,000,000 RN ABIR B LR BRERER
40,740,000/ 7T * MiMega MarketR — T —=F =
A=+ —B&RMERE%RE420,000,000 & 2~
AT AR o FT1S BXIE)F5840,075,00078 7T (H
4,200,000/ 7T A BR 31| A A& 7K » 35,875,000 7T A
RIARMDEE) RBEAEE, —REEES -

(0 RIFBEAREANAFZENEAEumbo Wealth
International Limited ([Jumbo Wealth |) £
Hondex Investments Limited ([Hondex J) &2 B
Eﬂ%‘“*E¢71H+7LEIZ%M§T£%E§'Hondex

R (B §%0.1%8 T8 #E500,000,0008% A A
Hﬂﬁ%ﬂ“?ﬂfﬁo 000, ooo/%rzjzaaﬁﬂﬂﬂumbo
Wealth# R Hondexz &5 10 B 3 & &1k 77 2 )&
& - & (b £ %849,866,000/8 7T (BB X 5K
7X134,0007 7T ) B 7 IR AR R BR 17 )i 8 9 B A BR
5,000,000/ 7t % 44,866,000/ 7T ©

RAEERET 28 KBRS YRR
BURRTE RS-
B8 AR AT

R-EE-_FNA-+MNB  RNARIRMN—IF
BRETE (22T 2F51E)) RIESTR
I FRBERE ST FNA=-TMHAELTt
FHEAERRER - RARRZE——F )\ A
Z+ZBROTZEREBFRG L ARRIRF—
IE%EE%HWE*H?U (ZZE——F5a ) BR ==
T oFE R T ——FER T ——FN
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ﬂﬁﬂa%ﬁ;%ﬁ BRIEZZZTZFERNE
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

1 30 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]

The 2002 Scheme

The 2002 Scheme was adopted by the Company on 24
April 2002 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors, eligible employees and consultants. Under the
2002 Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may
at its discretion offer to any employee, including executive
directors, or consultants of the Company and/or its
subsidiaries options to subscribe for shares in the Company
at a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options
granted. Options granted should be accepted within 30
days from the date of grant.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on the date of grant, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant, or (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2002 Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of shareholders’ approval of the 2002 Scheme, without a
prior approval from the Company'’s shareholders.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2002 Scheme and any
other schemes, must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue from time
to time.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued)
in respect of which options may be granted to any eligible
person in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue, unless a
shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

32. BRESTE (8)

(a)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—WNF=A=+—HBIEFE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a)

(b)

The 2002 Scheme (continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the 2002 Scheme at any time after the date upon which
the option is granted and prior to the expiry of 10 years
from that date. The period during which an option may
be exercised will be determined by the board of directors
in its absolute discretion, save that no option may be
exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted.
No option may be granted more than 10 years after the
date of approval of the 2002 Scheme. Subject to earlier
termination by the Company in general meeting or by the
board of directors’ resolution at a general meeting, the
2002 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years after the date of adoption of the 2002 Scheme.

By an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 22 August 2011 and upon the 2011
Scheme becoming unconditional and effective, the 2002
Scheme was terminated on 23 August 2011. No further
share options may be offered under the 2002 Scheme.
Nevertheless, share options granted under the 2002
Scheme prior to its termination shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

The 2011 Scheme

The 2011 Scheme was adopted by the Company on
22 August 2011 which will expire on 21 August 2021.
The primary purpose of the 2011 Scheme is to provide
incentives or reward to the eligible persons for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Group. Under the 2011 Scheme and
subject to its terms and conditions, the board of directors
of the Company may at its discretion offer to any eligible
employee, director, or consultant, agent, supplier, customer
or contractor of the Group options to subscribe for shares
in the Company. Such offer shall be open for acceptance
on a day specified in the letter of grant which shall be no
longer than 30 days from the date of the letter of grant.
The share options shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted and taken effect when the duplicate letter
of grant is signed by the eligible person and returned to
the Company together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 for each acceptance of grant of the
share options.

32. BRESTE (8)

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

1 32 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

The 2011 Scheme (continued)

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, which shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on the date of offer, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer, and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding vested or
unvested options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2011 Scheme and any other schemes must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue from time to time (the "Overriding
Limit").

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the 2011 Scheme and any other schemes shall not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of shareholders’ approval of the 2011 Scheme (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”). Subject to the Overriding Limit,
the Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit by
ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting,
provided that the Scheme Mandate Limit so refreshed shall
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares as at
the date of shareholders’ approval of the refreshment.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued)
in respect of which options may be granted under the
2011 Scheme and any other schemes to any eligible
person in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue, unless a
shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

32. BRESTE (B)

(b)
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

The 2011 Scheme (continued)

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of
their respective associates must be approved by the
independent non-executive directors. Where share options
are proposed to be granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director, or any of their
respective associates, and the grant would result in the
aggregate of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted or to be granted under the 2011
Scheme and any other schemes to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of offer
of the relevant share options to (i) represent in aggregate
over 0.1% of the total number of issued shares for the
time being; and (i) have an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares, in excess of HK$5,000,000,
the proposed grant shall be subject to the approval of
the shareholders in general meeting with the connected

persons abstaining from voting in favour.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2011 Scheme during such period as may be
determined by the board of directors (which shall not be
more than 10 years commencing on the date on which the
share option is granted and accepted). Unless otherwise
determined by the board of directors, there is no minimum
period for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised. Subject to early termination by the Company
in general meeting or the board of directors, the 2011
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on its date of adoption.

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 284,000,000
(2013: 284,000,000) share options outstanding under the
2011 Scheme which represented approximately 6.61% (2013:

7.48%) of the Company's shares in issue at that date. The

exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under

the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 284,000,000 (2013: 284,000,000) additional shares and
additional share capital of HK$2,840,000 (2013: HK$2,840,000)
and share premium of HK$43,452,000 (2013: HK$43,452,000)
(before issue expenses).

32. BRESTE (8)
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32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The following tables disclose details of the Company's share

options held by Directors, employees and consultants and

movements in the share options granted

Scheme and the 2011 Scheme.

For the year ended 31 March 2014

under the 2002

32. BRESTE (8)

TREBES BB RENEE 2 AR AW
RRE-EE-AHBR-T - —FHBER

ZEBEEZEHHE-

BE-Z-NF=ZA=+—HLFE

Number of share options

BRERE
Weighted
average closing
share price
Granted Exercised Lapsed immediately
Exercise price Outstanding during during during  Outstanding before
Grantee Date of grant per share Exercisable period ~ at 31.03.2013 the year the year the year at31.03.2014 exercise date
2
R-E-=% R-2-BE  REHH
ZAZT-H ZAZT-B RetmETs
ERA RHBH BRITRE ATEHE WRTR EREH FRTE ERAM M L
HKS HKS
AT AT
The 2011 Scheme
ZE--EiY
Employees 27.07.2012 0.1630 27.07.2012-26.07.2014 99,000,000 - - - 99,000,000 N/A
E2 TER
Consultants and other eligible 27.07.2012 0.1630 27.07.2012-26.07.2014 185,000,000 - - - 185,000,000 N/A
participants TER
BRAREBAARZEA
284,000,000 - - - 284,000,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZEZZF

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2013

BB W OR M (

32. BRESTE(8)
BE-_T—=6=ZA=+—HItEE

&)

—OF=ZA=1+—HLEFE

Number of share options
BREHE
Weighted
average closing
share price
Granted Exercised Lapsed immediately
Exercise price Outstanding during during during  Outstanding before
Grantee Date of grant per share Exercisable period  at 31.03.2012 the year the year the year at31.03.2013  exercise date
28
RZB-Z§ R=%-z%  AKBHH
ZR=1-A ZAZt-8 RONETY
ERA RHBH ERTRE TfEEE HRTE ERRE ERfiR EREH HRTR W fE
HKS HKS
AT AT
The 2002 Scheme
ZRRCEHY
Directors
g%
Chow Siu Ngor 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-15.09.2012 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 0.1645
PR 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-24.01.2013 500,000 - - (500,000) - N/A
T#ER
Chan Chi Yuen 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-15.09.2012 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 0.1645
REE 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-24.01.2013 500,000 - - (500,000) - N/A
TR
Consultants and other eligible 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-15.09.2012 27,000,000 - - (27,000,000) - N/A
participants TER
BAREBAERZEA 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-24.01.2013 28,000,000 - - (28,000,000) - N/A
TER
61,000,000 - (5,000,000 (56,000,000) -
The 2011 Scheme
—E2--FitH
Employees 27.07.2012 0.1630 27.07.2012-26.07.2014 - 99,000,000 - - 99,000,000 N/A
&8 TER
Consultants and other eligible 27.07.2012 0.1630 27.07.2012-26.07.2014 - 185,000,000 - - 185,000,000 N/A
participants TER
BARAMAERZEA
- 284,000,000 - - 284,000,000
No share option has been granted, exercised and cancelled E’\\%Z —E-mFE=A= ‘1‘ HIEFE WER
during the year ended 31 March 2014. 1768 S ot 8 1 fa] B PR
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for REBEZT—=F=-A=+—RHLFE B
share options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2013 FERR AT B 2 hniE T 19 IR B /50.16508 7T
was HK$0.1650.
During the year ended 31 March 2013, the fair value of the RBE-Z-—=F=ZA=+—HILFE 2&H

share options granted was HK$4,532,000 and the Company
recognised share-based payment of HK$4,532,000.

B RS #E 2 A {E A4,532,000 7T 0 AR A B HE

R B ERE 2 384,532,000 7T °
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32.

1 36 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEAR A F]

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model (the “Model”), taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Details of
the fair values of share options determined at the date of grant
using the Model with significant variables and assumptions are

as follows:

32. BRESTE (8)

FIRBABRAEE 2 BRENRAFERE A
MR - SRR EERS ([ZERX])
st WEZEERDBREZ GRRGE -G
BREXRLAAUZELAEEZATFERE
RESTLBRFABOT:

Date of share
options grant

27.07.2012

BREREAH

—E-—F

tA=++tH

Exercise price (HK$) 18 E () 0.1630
Dividend yield A% Bk 2 0%
Expected volatility T8 BB 1R 27.467%
Risk-free interest rate fm 3 B ) 0.160%
Expected life of option (year) T8 HR B I ke B R () 1
Closing share price at grant date (HK$) BBz RDWHE (Er) 0.1620

The expected volatility, which is based on the approximate
historical volatility of closing prices of the share of the Company
in the past one year immediately before the date of grant,
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome. The risk-free interest rate represents the yields to
maturity of respective Hong Kong Exchange Fund Note as at
the share options grant date. The expected life of the options is
based on the historical data and is not necessarily indicative of
exercise patterns that may occur.

No other features of options grant were incorporated into the

measurement of fair value.

FHRESEARA ROV EERR L B EBG
E—FE2ZRTEROEL KRS E  RRESL &
PABRTARBEZRE AVRERER
REBRMNEERERERLAAETEINERES
B2 B H Y e ?E\Hﬁﬁﬁﬂx%ﬁxﬁlﬁﬁﬁgﬁf\ri
BIEMERE MARBRMATEE LR Z1TERE-

FPEAPERIER MR B EREZ 05T
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZEZZF

BB RME (&)

—OF=ZA=1+—HLFE

33. RESERVES 33. f##
The Group rEE
The contributed surplus of the Group represents the cancellation AEBZHBABBETIHARARARNRE EE‘:P
of an amount of approximately HK$48,000,000 from the share #748,000,000 8 TRR T ZFFHEARQ
premium account of the Company and the credit of an amount MR 49610,247,0008 TR R R =T Z _¢
of approximately HK$610,247,000 of the Company's share RERZTE=FENZAREEMERELD
capital cancelled in 2002 and the contribution of approximately 26,719,000 7T °
HK$26,719,000 from the placing of warrants in 2002 that had
expired in 2003.
The special reserve of the Group represents the difference AEBZENFEREARAINBEAEBEAAR
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the R R ETIEM B A R IR AN 81T 2 IRAE
Company in exchange for the nominal amount of share capital BEEZEMBRARRAEAER Z5 -
of its subsidiaries acquired at the date of a previous group
reorganisation.
Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net B AEBEBIEB 2 FEERAEEER
assets of the Group's foreign operations from their functional HEAEEZEE (BT EE2ELEZS
currencies to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong ThE A Bt 2 T UK A R 0 0 B 5 iR 4 R AT -
dollars) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income ZERELRERSA CELZEREEEIE
and accumulated in the exchange reserve. Such exchange BREFSEEERR -
differences accumulated in the exchange reserve are reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation.
The Company RATF
Share Capital  Convertible Share
premium  redemption note  Contributed options  Accumulated
account reserve reserve SUrp'US reserve losses Total
EARE  TRREE BRE
Re%ER fifs 1 BARH fifs RitER @it
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
Balance at 1 April 2012 RZE-Z§MA-B2&EH 656,097 13,878 18,352 907,760 1,606 (1,526,156) 71,537
Issue of shares BIRH 35,875 - - - - - 35,875
Exercise of share options e R i 664 - - - (134) - 530
Transfer on lapse of share options BREAURER - - - - (1,472) 1472 -
Share options granted Rt B E - - - - 4532 - 4,532
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEERENHAE - - - - - (129,615) (129,615)
Balance at 31 March 2013
and 1 April 2013 3 692,636 13,878 18,352 907,760 4,532 (1,654,299) (17,141)
Issue of shares %ﬂﬁxf 44,866 - - - - - 44,866
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEE2ATLAE - - - - - (16,027) (16,027)
Balance at 31 March 2014 RZB-NME=A=+-H2
& 737,502 13,878 18,352 907,760 4,532 (1,670,326) 11,698
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

33. RESERVES (continued) 33. f&E (&)

1 38 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Convertible note reserve represents the amount allocated to the
equity component of convertible note issued by the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible note in note 4(q).

The contributed surplus of the Company represents:

(i)  the difference between the consolidated shareholders’
funds of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company, and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of
a previous group reorganisation;

(i) the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account of the
Company and the credit of an amount of approximately
HK$610,247,000 of the Company's share capital cancelled
in 2002; and

(iii) the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000 from the
placing of warrants in 2002 that had expired in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company's assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders at 31 March 2013 and
31 March 2014.

The share options reserve represents the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised. The amount will
either be transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to accumulated
losses should the related options expire or be forfeited.

AHRERREFEEARAMETIERERZ
R D D B 2 FREE - AR F TR M FE4(q)
MARRRERN 2 ST REETHRR -

RABZBANBBRA:

() ARAFAKBBZHEARNKERHZE
ERFESEBEEEBAR BT E
TARERRMDEERZZ58:

(i) FEEAQFRG R ERE 448,000,000
BT UER-_EZT_EFHE I AARAR
AN49610,247,000/8 TTH IR &

(i) RZET_FRER-_ZET=-F

BEBRE-NAN—FRQEDE(KEERT) A2
BZHABRBRKRAHSIK - AW HHR TS
M AIARBE B EMARREIRIIRN B E K
EH DK -

(@) ARAREEFIBNELIRNEREELEED
HaRE: %

(b) ARAIEEZAEREEHELEMIRE
BE HEEBTRARRMEBEER=22
PR

EERA RNZZE—=F=A=+—8BK=Z
—HFE=ZA=+—H ARFELEAH KT
R ##-

BREFMEACRBERMRTEZBRENR
FE - ERMBRERTER B RSER
=R B X8 B B BUE E B K
- AIEEE REt R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 34. HEKBELA
On 17 August 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, R-ZTE——FNA++tH xEEBZ2EHMBAR
Fame Plus International Limited, entered into a sale and AlFame Plus International Limitedf — & &/
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose EoHIUEERSE LESRTREEGREAT
of its entire interests in Unique Gold Investments Limited and REA2BHMBATIERBLATELEARE LA
its wholly-owned subsidiary, EEBLETEEAERET QA SA((EEATD 2 BEE BelkEAEARE
(Chongging Feng Hong Ji Enterprise Company Limited) (the 10,000,0007C (48 R 4912,240,000E 7T) «
"Project Company”), at a consideration of RMB10,000,000 EERSEIUE BHOHEE AT LM ARE
(equivalent to approximately HK$12,240,000) for cash. When 25,000,0007T (#8% R 4930,600,0003% 7T) + LA
the sale and purchase agreement had been entered into, the EEREEAEERER ATNER (1A
purchaser paid RMBZS,OOOtOOO (equivalent to approximately EE]) HEEEER -2 ——ENF=+—
HK$30,600,000) to the Project Company t(_) settle and repay Bk L E R E YA ENT
the debts between the Group and the Project Company (the
“Sunrise Debts”). The disposal was completed on 31 August
2012. The net assets disposed of at the date of disposal were as
follows:
HK$'000
TFET
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) M- BE REE (Mi16) 18
Properties under development (Note 22) BRAPWE (WiF22) 43,481
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS 3
Other payables Hth fE TR IE (30,600)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHRIERE (1,380)
Net assets disposed of HEZFEE 11,522
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR Z W :
Cash consideration ReERE 12,240
Net assets disposed of HECFEE (11,522)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net KB AT 2 FEERH &8
assets of the subsidiary reclassified from equity to HEaEN ERERAEREL
profit or loss on disposal (Note 13) REERERE (Hit13) 938
Gain on disposal (Note 7) HE W (Ait7) 1,656
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELEZRERATFE:
Cash consideration ReaRE 12,240
The Sunrise Debts BEE® 30,600
Total proceeds FRis sk E B2 42,840
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEZRTESR LIRS (3)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of EBHEENBARIABBZIRE R
the disposal of subsidiaries ReFEBEARANERE 42,837
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34.

35.

36.

1 40 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The subsidiaries disposed of during the year ended 31 March
2013 contributed approximately HK$Nil to the Group’s turnover
and loss of approximately HK$783,000 to the Group’s loss from
operations for the year ended 31 March 2013.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2014, the Group had capital commitments
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the purchase of plant and machinery
amounting to approximately HK$352,000 (2013: approximately
HK$346,000).

The Company had no significant capital commitments at both
balance sheet dates.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) At 31 March 2014, the Company had given guarantees
to two lenders in respect of other borrowings utilised
by a subsidiary to an extent of HK$325,002,000 (2013
restated: HK$366,713,000). The Directors do not consider
it probable that a claim will be made against the Company
under any of the guarantees. The maximum liability of
the Company at 31 March 2014 under the guarantees by
the Company is the aggregate amount of the borrowings
drawn down by the subsidiary and the outstanding interest
payable. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of
these guarantees is not significant.

(b) The Company had contingent liabilities in respect of
financial support given to certain subsidiaries which have
capital deficiencies to allow them to continue as a going
concern and to meet their liabilities as and when they fall
due.

(c)  Other than those mentioned in (a) above, the Group had
no other significant contingent liabilities as at both balance
sheet dates.

34.

35.

36.

HEMBAR (&)
REE-ZT—=ZFZA=Z+—RHLFERMH
ECHBARRBEZE-_ZE—=#=A=+—H
HFEAREBZEETERMNTE T BAK
EEzEEBIBTREELT783,0008 T

EREE

RZE—NWF=ZA=+—HB A5EREER
EREERBEETBRENEEFTHERE
%2 B ARAYEH352,0008 T (ZE—=Z4F 4
346,000/ 70) °

MREEER AR EERNE RAE-

RREE
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M BARBSAz HMEERNMEE H1E
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37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group made minimum lease payments of approximately
HK$3,075,000 (2013: HK$5,679,000) under operating leases
during the year.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

37. REMNARE
FEBEREBEA
AEBFEARBELEROELRERAENK
#73,075,000% 7T (=% — =4 :5,679,000%
L) e

REEH  REBAR T HELEBOAER
ERREEENT HOERFHOT :

The Group
xEH

2014 2013
—E-MmF —E—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —F A 452 3,304
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_ZXERF (BREEREMT) - 385
452 3,689

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office premises, staff quarter,
warehouses and motor vehicle. Leases are negotiated and fixed

for an average term of one to two years.

REHENFTEARBEREETRTENE -8
TEE RERSEENZES -BHOFHFH
BER—EMEF -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 38. IXAKREERATETE
MEASUREMENT
(a) Financial instruments by categories (a) ®ZERESZE2WMIA

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been EARtMTIASTREZHEBENT:

applied to the line items below:

The Group AEH
Financial assets
at fair value
Loans and through
receivables profit or loss Total
BRAYHE
BRK HPNF:
FE e BR 1 ZEMEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Assets as per consolidated REEEEBBRZEE
balance sheet
At 31 March 2014 R-E-ME=ZA=+-H
Trade and other receivables EWE S REMEKIR
(excluding prepayments) (TBEEMNFE) 56,833 - 56,833
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFABEZE ZEREE
profit or loss (Note 24) (Hi7224) - 19,604 19,604
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) B&RESSBIER (MiF25) 33,453 - 33,453
Total Bt 90,286 19,604 109,890
At 31 March 2013 R-ZE-—=5=H=+—H
Trade and other receivables EWE S R EMEKIR
(excluding prepayments) (TBEEMNFE) 57,309 - 57,309
Financial assets at fair value through & AFEABRZEREE
profit or loss (Note 24) (Ktit24) - 38,845 38,845
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) B&RESSBIER (MiF25) 56,437 - 56,437
Total @t 38,845

1 42 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 38. MXEMEERAFEE (B)

MEASUREMENT (continued)

(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued)

The Group (continued)

(a) BEHBSZEWMIA(E

Em(H)

Financial
liabilities measured
at amortised cost

R A
FTBCERAR
HK$'000
TFET
Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet REGEGEEEBERZEE
At 31 March 2014 R-E-—WmE=ZF=+—H
Trade and other payables (Note 26) ENE 5 R EMERIE (fi226) 29,221
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of — FE{S M B A A JEIE R AR SR IE (M7 5227)

a subsidiary (Note 27) 21,839
Bank and other borrowings (Note 28) RITREMEE (H:728) 62,107
Convertible note (Note 29) AR ER (HiE29) 101,272
Total 5 214,439
At 31 March 2013 R-ZE-—=%=A=+—H
Trade and other payables (Note 26) ENE 5 R EMRE (fit26) 37,405
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of — FE{T I B A R JE =R AR SRR IE (#7727)

a subsidiary (Note 27) 21,162
Bank and other borrowings (Note 28) RITREMEES (Fi728) 66,667
Convertible note (Note 29) AR (MF29) 94,823
Total HEt 220,057
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

38. MIBEBREERAFETE (E)

1 44 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued) (a) ®TEREBSZEMIA (&
The Company ARAFE
Loans and
receivables
ERREWREER
HK$000
FET
Assets as per balance sheet REEBBRZEE
At 31 March 2014 R-E-—WmE=HA=+—H
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 20) FE W Bt B8 A B R (B aE20) 174,461
Other receivables (excluding prepayments) HMEWRE (TR EEMNRIE) 104
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) RekReEBWEE (Hat25) 3,092
Total #Et 177,657
At 31 March 2013 R-E—=%=HA=+—H
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 20) FE W Bt /B8 A B B (B aE20) 68,368
Other receivables (excluding prepayments) HEMEWRE (TaEEMNRIE) 104
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) RekReEHEEE (Hit25) 53,212
Total #Et 122,184
Financial liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
R AR
FTEzSsEEs
HK$'000
FrET
Liabilities as per balance sheet REEEBRZEE
At 31 March 2014 R-ZZB-mF=ZA=+—H
Other payables (Note 26) HMERE (fit26) 3,215
Other borrowings (Note 28) HEiEE (#i#28) 18,544
Convertible note (Note 29) AR ERE (HiE29) 101,272
Total BEt 123,031
At 31 March 2013 R=-ZB-=F=ZA=+—H
Other payables (Note 26) H M ARIE (fit26) 6,626
Convertible note (Note 29) AR R (M7729) 94,823
Total “Et 101,449




Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

(b)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest

rate risk and price risk),

credit risk and liquidity risk

arising in the normal course of its business and financial

instruments. The Group’s risk management objectives and

policies mainly focus on minimising the potential adverse

effects of these risks on the Group by closely monitoring

the individual exposure as follows:

(1) Market risk

(1)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due to
adverse movements in foreign exchange rates
relating to investments denominated in foreign
currencies. The Group’s assets and liabilities are
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
When seeking to optimise the returns on its
funds available for investments, the Group
has certain investments in foreign operations,
whose net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk.

At 31 March 2014, if Hong Kong dollars had
strengthened/weakened by 10% against the
RMB, with all other variable held constant,
equity would have been approximately
HK$8,672,000 (2013: HK$8,958,000), lower or
higher.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the balance sheet date
and had been applied to each of the Group
entities’ exposure to currency risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date, and
that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant. The changes in foreign
exchange rate represent management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rate at that date over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date.

B mERWE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZEZZF

—OF=ZA=1+—HLFE

38. MIBEBREERAFETE (E)

(b)

B R EE
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2
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZEZ-Z—
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

(b)

1 46 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)

()

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in above
represent an aggregation of the effects on
each of the Group entities’ profit or loss and
equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet
date for presentation purposes. The analysis is
prepared on the same basis for 2013.

Interest rate risk

Except for cash and cash equivalents, the Group
has no other significant interest-bearing assets.
The Group's income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. Management does not
anticipate significant impact on interest-bearing
assets resulted from the changes in interest
rates because the interest rates of bank deposits
are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rate arising from the Group's bank borrowing
denominated in RMB.

Bank borrowing at floating interest rates
exposes the Group to cash flow interest-rate
risk. Details of the Group’s bank borrowing have
been disclosed in Note 28.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. In
order to manage the cash flow interest rate
risk, the Group will repay the corresponding
borrowing when it has surplus funds.

MEEREERATVEFE(H)

(b)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 38. MKEAKREERAFEE (E)
MEASUREMENT (continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued) (b) BIHEREZE (&)

(1) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for the floating rate bank borrowings at
the balance sheet date. For floating rate bank
borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liabilities outstanding at the
balance sheet date was outstanding for the
whole year.

At 31 March 2014, if interest rates on floating
rate bank borrowing had been 25 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$25,000 (2013: HK$25,000)
higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest expense on floating rate bank

borrowing.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared with
the assumption that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the balance sheet date and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate
risk for the relevant financial instruments in
existence at that date. The changes in interest
rates represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in interest rates at
that date over the period until the next annual
balance sheet date. The analysis is prepared on
the same basis for 2013.

(1) THEmE(E
(i) FEmbE (E)
NTHEEASTHRBEERT
BRITEEZNEABRETE - #
FRIBRITIEEME DM DER
REEAZAREEGBERNEES
B REEMRE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

MBBERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZT—NF=A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued) (b) MBEEBREZR (&)

(1) Market risk (continued) (1) HmHEEE (E)

(iii)  Price risk (i) 1E15E 2

MEEREERATVEFE(H)

1 48 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

The Group is exposed to equity securities price
risk for the equity investments held by the
Group which are classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss. Majority of the
Group's equity securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange and are valued at quoted market
prices as at the balance sheet date. The Group is
not exposed to commodity price risk.

Listed investments held in the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss portfolio
have been chosen taking reference to their
long term growth potential and returns and are
monitored regularly for performance. Given that
the volatility of the stock markets may not have
a direct correlation with the Group’s investment
portfolio, it is impractical to determine the
impact that the changes in stock market indices
would have on the Group’s portfolio of equity
investments.

At 31 March 2014, it is estimated that an
increase/a decrease of 10% in the market value
of the Group's financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, with all other variables
held constant, loss for the year would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$1,960,000 (2013:
HK$3,884,000). The stated changes represent
management’s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in the market value of the
Group's investment portfolio over the period
until the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is prepared on the same basis for 2013.

The Company is exposed to other price risk
in respect of investments in subsidiaries.
The sensitivity to price risk in relation to the
investments in subsidiaries cannot be reliably
determined due to numerous uncertainties
regarding the future development of these
subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HEZZT—NF=A=+—HBIEFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued)

2)

3)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is principally attributable to
trade and other receivables and bank balances. The
Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
It has policies in place to ensure that sales of products
are made and services are provided to customers
with an appropriate credit history. The customer with
sound payment history would accumulate a higher
credit limit.

Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are set out in Note 23.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks with high
quality external credit ratings in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. Prudent
liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close
out market positions. The Group aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit
lines available and sufficient bank deposits to meet
short term cash requirements.

MEEREERATVEFE(E)

(b) MBEBREZE(E)

2)

3)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBEZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 38. BiIBEABREERAFEFE (&)
MEASUREMENT (continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued) (b) MBEEBREZR (&)
(3) Liquidity risk (continued) 3) mBHELEE (F)
The following amounts are the contractual THFREAAEERNGTEFTEEER
undiscounted cash flow payments of the Group's HresmAaE(BEANEKS)ERN
financial liabilities (including interest elements) at the EFRIME R e

earliest dates the Group requires to pay.

Contractual undiscounted cash outflows

RHNERRRERE
More than More than
Within one year two years
one year but less but less More
Carrying oron than two than five than five
amount demand years years years Total
BE-F BAME
—FRAH BHR BHR
BEE RER mE iE BBEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FHET FET TET
At 31 March 2014 R-B-RME=Zf=+-H
Trade and other payables ERESREMERE 29,221 29,221 - - - 29,221
Amount due to a non- [ERMBARFERRERE
controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary 21,839 - 21,839 - - 21,839
Bank and other borrowings  SB{TREAEE 62,107 11,098 34,500 3,000 22,000 70,598
Convertible note AR R 101,272 105,572 - - - 105,572
Total @it 214,439 145,891 56,339 3,000 22,000 227,230
At 31 March 2013 R-B-=%=ZfA=+-H
Trade and other payables ENEBSREMEE 37,405 37,405 - - - 37,405
Amount due to a non- BB B 2 R SEIR R AR SR AR 0E
controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary 21,162 - 21,162 - - 21,162
Bank and other borrowings BOREMEE 66,667 729 67,031 - - 67,760
Convertible note ARRE 94,823 1,050 106,050 - - 107,100
Total FoE 220,057 39,184 194,243 - - 233,427
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

(b)

(0

38. MIBEBREERAFETE (E)

Financial risk factors (continued) (b) BBERAKBEZE(E)
(3) Liquidity risk (continued) (3) HEBEZERE (&)
The remaining contractual maturities of the RARRBEAFFTRBETENLE
Company'’s financial liabilities as at the balance sheet HHZemBERTANIHAN
date, based on the contractual undiscounted cash S
flows, was as follows:
Contractual undiscounted cash outflows
BHERBRRERL
More than More than
Within one year two years
one year but less but less More
Carrying oron than two than five than five
amount demand years years years Total
Ba—F BARE
—FRH EON BAR
FEE REX WE fik3 BBERE @
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FHET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2014 R-ZZ-WMF=ZA=1+-8H
Other payables Hi e RE 3,215 3,215 - - - 3,215
Other borrowings HinlE 8 18,544 664 1,000 3,000 22,000 26,664
Convertible note ARERE 101,272 105,572 - - - 105,572
Total @it 123,031 109,451 1,000 3,000 22,000 135,451
At 31 March 2013 R-Z-=%=A=t+-H
Other payables Hit e ERE 6,626 6,626 - - - 6,626
Convertible note BEES 94,823 1,050 106,050 - - 107,100
Total it 101,449 7,676 106,050 - - 113,726
Capital risk management (0 EXERER

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk

and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

AEEEAREERRZEIZANZBEY
EmEREELDERBRKTEEZES"
IARABERAREGRE  RREREE
RISBREERBELEE 2D UFE
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MBBERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZEZ-Z—

mE=A=

T—HLEFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

MEEREERATVEFE(H)

(c) Capital risk management (continued) () BEXERERE (&)
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages AEEBEMEHRBIREREEEARR
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the B UEARETREREE® (JREEEAR
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with RAKTFEE)BERIFERARIZBE RIE
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and EMzERFBIE WERBLERRLZE
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes BARHEEARERE-
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.
Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its BATHEEN -8 NEEBEZREKFEY
capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-adjusted KRABRER EEREEITEERERE -3
capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines net debt mEs AEEBEBEFEATREBRE
as total debt (which include trade and other payables, H(EREENES RHEMERIE fEﬂ&ﬁ
bank and other borrowings and convertible note) less g EUARABRRKRER) REABe RS
cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all HIEHE - KHAREABEMEERE D - K
components of equity. The Group's policy is to keep that SECZBETIRZEERBESEKTF
ratio at a reasonable level.
The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 March 2014 R-E—NER-_TE—=F=A=+—H
and 2013 are as follows: ZEBFREEKHBEER L RNOT
2014 2013
—E-NF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 K& A A AR 1E 29,221 37,405
Amount due to a non-controlling FERTHI B A B JEFE IR IR SR 3 H
shareholder of a subsidiary 21,839 21,162
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 62,107 66,667
Convertible note — liability component A#KZEE -BELD 101,272 94,823
Total debt [EE T 214,439 220,057
Less: Cash and cash equivalents - BReRIReEFFEER 33,453 56,437
Net debt (R 180,986 163,620
Adjusted capital — Total equity KA ER -t 196,179 190,554
Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BB FRASCHBRER L X 92% 86%

1 52 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to either internally or externally imposed capital

requirements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HBILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

(d) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the
balance sheet date on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

3 Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

J Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

3 Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

38. MBEAREERAFETE (H)

() ATEIE

(i)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

B mERWE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZE-ZZ—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (continued)

(d)

1 54 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

Fair value measurement (continued)

()

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

38. MIBEBREERAFETE (E)
(d) 2FEFE(E)
(i) BEAFPEIBZLHEERESE

(%)

Fair value measurements categorised into

ATEHEZDE
Fair value
At 31 March Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R=A=+-H
ZAYE £-F £-F $£=E
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAET FET FHET
The Group X58
2014 —Z-|mF
Recurring fair value MEHATETS:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value EAFEFABEZSRMERE:
through profit or loss:
- Listed equity investment ~ — EFIRAKRE 19,604 19,604 - -
2013 —E-=F%
Recurring fair value BEMNTEHE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value RAFEFABEZEREE:
through profit or loss:
- Listed equity investment ~ — FHRAKE 38,845 38,845 - -

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2014,
there was no significant transfer between investments
in Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level
3.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried
at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's and the
Company’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2013 and 2014 except for
other borrowing and convertible note where their
carrying amounts and fair value and the level of fair
value hierarchy are disclosed in notes 28 and 29

respectively.
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39. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_ZT—-—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. BEAEATZXR B RER
PARTIES
During the year, the Group had significant transactions with the

FRN AEEEATHEALTETERRS &

following related parties, together with balances with them as at EAREEREBESE &R FBEOT !

the balance sheet date, details of which are as follows:

2014 2013
—EB-mF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$000
FETT FET
Key management compensation of AEEFEZEBEEAEHM:
the Group:
Salaries and other short-term employee FehkEMEHEEREA
benefits (Note 10(a)) (BraE10(a)) 1,155 1,155
Substantial shareholders: FTERRE:
Interest on convertible note (Note 29) AMRERZFE (Ki729) 1,050 1,050
Loan from Hondex HondexZ B3 176,415 -
Interest payable to Hondex JE& fHondexZ Fl| & 50,327 -
Interest expense for the year BiHondexZ B F A 2
on loan from Hondex FE X H 15,903 -
Top-up Subscription (Note 317) HWERBEE (MWit31) - 40,740
Other interest E At F 2 - 7
A company controlled by a substantial BEERREHH 2 QA :
shareholder:
Other borrowing (Note 28) HithEE (Mi#28) 33,500 56,790

As mentioned in note 31(c) to the financial statements, the
Company issued 500,000,000 new ordinary shares to Hondex
which was settled by way of capitalisation of part of the loan
due from Jumbo Wealth to Hondex. As a result of such loan
capitalisation, Hondex become a substantial shareholder of the
Company with effect from 19 September 2013.

The loan from Hondex is guaranteed by the Company and bore
initially interest at 11.5% per annum and the interest rate was
adjusted to 5% per annum with effect from 1 October 2013.
The loan from Hondex is included in asset/liabilities classified as
held for sale and further details are described in note 15(b).

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
transactions with related parties during the year or significant
balances with them at the end of the year.

00 B 7 3R R M RE31 ()BT it - AN A A Hondex
% 17500,000,000 % 1 & @ % - 3 2 3% 8 #
Jumbo Wealth# K Hondex 2 8D BB AL 2
FRIEE - BENEZE D ERE R - Hondex
BZZE—=FNAATIhBERRALRAZEE
AR -

HondexZ EX B AR AR W HRFH =
M5EHE B-_T—=5+H—BBEENXAH
BESE - HondexZ EREF AN BARBELE
ZEE/BE E—SHFBRMEI50)H -

B EXCPRIREEE SN - FNLMERE A LHETH
MEARS ARAFEFARANBERECZE
PN
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

41.

1 56 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of an
independent trustee.

Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions at 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the scheme. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions arising
from the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated income
statement represent contributions payable to the fund by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years.

The employees in the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

NON-CASH TRANSACTION

On 19 September 2013, the Company issued 500,000,000 new
ordinary shares to Hondex at a subscription price HK$0.1 each
for a consideration of HK$50,000,000 which was settled by way
of capitalisation of part of the loan due from Jumbo Wealth to
Hondex (note 31(c)).

40.

41.

RARERGE
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42. LITIGATIONS

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited (”Silver
Wind"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a conditional agreement (the "“Acquisition Agreement”)
with Stronway Development Limited (”Stronway Development”),
pursuant to which Silver Wind agreed to acquire from Stronway
Development the entire equity interest in Winmax Asia
Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia”). Under the arrangement,
Winmax Asia will in turn acquire the entire equity interest in
Beijing Jianxing Real Estate Development Co. (“Jianxing”) along
with Jianxing’'s standalone villas development project in Beijing
known as “HT27EE". The aggregate consideration payable for
the acquisition was RMB433,000,000 which was to be settled
in cash and two villas. In December 2007, RMB20,000,000
was paid under the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway
Development by Silver Wind as deposit (the “Deposit”). Details
of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s circular dated 14
December 2007.

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things, that the
subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement was frustrated,
Silver Wind decided to terminate the Acquisition Agreement
and, through its legal representative has served a notice of
termination to Stronway Development. In order to protect the
position of Silver Wind and to recover, amongst other things,
the Deposit from Stronway Development legal proceedings were
instigated against Stronway Development on this matter in the
High Court of Hong Kong on 15 April 2008.

In the opinion of the Directors, the probability of recovery of
the deposit could not be ascertained and hence full amount had
been directly written off in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2008. As at the date of this report,
the legal proceedings against Stronway Development are still
pending and there is no significant development.

42.

BB RME (&)
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March

2014 are as follows:

43. XEMBLAAFE
R-ZE—ME=ZA=+—8 AARZEENEB
DEFEMT

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered the Company#/ capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group  Principal activities
KRR/
B DR AT
BRIRA AEBEFE
B3l BRBRE/ EE/ BRITRE
WELAREM it B HEREE BRLH ERLH TEXH
% %
Full Champion Financial Limited B.V.I. Us$3 1007 100 Securities trading
RERTES 3FL EFHEE
New Team Limited B.VI. Us$1 1007 100 Investment holding
RERAES (EY REZRR
Power Rise International Limited B.V.I. Us$1 100* 100 Securities trading
EBRAHES (E EHEE
Prosper City International Limited Hong Kong HK$100 51 51 Trading of building
REERERAA 9 1007 7T materials and
provision of
renovation service
BEMNE S RIRHEE
R
Shanghai Hualong Construction The PRC US$11,080,000 51 51 Property development
Co. Ltd. H 11,080,000% 1T and sales
TEEERRARAR MEERRHEE
Sun Spread Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
EREEBRAT &k BT RERR
Super Target Limited B.VI. Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
EBRRHES 1% RERRK
Top Field Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
BERKBRAA Bk 1T BEER
China Gamma Group (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$1 100" 100 Investment holding
Limited Bk 1B REER
REIMIERE (F8)FERAR
EEBARMEREER AR The PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property investment
Chongqing Sunrise Property F AE#20,000,0007T MERE
Development Company Limited
MERRRERRMTERAR The PRC RMB29,000,000 80 80  Gamma ray irradiation
Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray H A& #29,000,0007T services
Technologies Co. Limited 3% 5t 4% FR 5T IR 75
EEMNERAERAT The PRC RMB 10,000,000 90 90  Investment holding
Yunnan He Da Investments FE AR 10,000,000 REER

Company Limited
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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43. T EMBLRFE (&)

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered the Company*/ capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group  Principal activities
AR/
W 2 R A
BRTRE AEEFE
BMAE/ BERBRE/ EE/ BITRA
WEAR BB i B ERER ERA BEREA  FTERER
% %
EEERRRTHBEERAA The PRC RMB20,000,000 60 54 Rare earth refinery and
Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth H AR #20,000,0007T processing business
Technology Company Limited MIARMIER
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the REE B FREAIRRE - B QRS E M E
end of the year or at any time during the year. HESH o
The above table includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, TR ERESERAYASERFEXEBNE

in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to
the current year’s presentation.

NON-ADJUSTING EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET
DATE

The Group planned to sell a group of subsidiaries that engaged
in the rare earth refinery and processing business if the assets
value would be better reflected by such a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use. The Group has been actively
seeking buyers for the said business. Meanwhile, a potential
buyer, who is an independent third party, has been identified
and negotiation for the sale is in progress. On 25 June 2014,
a letter of intent has been entered into between a subsidiary
of the Group and the potential buyer, pursuant to which due
diligence of the said business will be conducted by the potential
buyer within a reasonable period and the possible sale will be
subject to further negotiation, satisfaction of certain conditions
and corporate approvals. Currently no binding agreements have
been reached between the parties.

AREBIRAEBE 2 EEFETEAEERLE

ZARRBIMBERAR - EER

A aF DI E A B B 2 A

ZERESERABR-

44. LhBHF
ETHREFELENHE UFEEAFEZZR
TIH R e

45. #EHEARKARSEE
AEEFETHERIEFETRHEREER

REEEBEZIS
EBZMBRR -AEE-—EEELS LIRER
fﬂfiﬁ%t’éﬁﬁtﬁﬁ%'zﬁﬁlaiﬁé*%ﬁ‘ff
R(RBUE=7) YIERBEHALEFEE

BEE-n=—F—
MEAREAZLGAEERIVYBERE BB
%“%Hﬁﬁ"/\ﬁﬁﬁf‘ﬁW%‘H:L%i%i&ﬁ%ﬁ%&.ﬂ
EREFEBRER
AT B ERAS 1 S HL - Kﬁfﬁﬁﬂrﬂ ERALR

E-MmAf

hz -
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Financial Summary

BBEE

RESULTS ey

For the year ended 31 March
BE-A=+-HLEE

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
-2 —E-—-% ZFT-=-F ZZ—= —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FiEr FET FET FET
Turnover B 3,762 30,473 26,726 48,523 41,018
Loss attributable to equity PAN/NSIE End 3
shareholders of the Company (L& (51,194) (29,203) (56,198) (143,475) (51,471)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 March
R=ZA=+—-H
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
—T-TF ET——% T—-F T—=-F CZE-@0OF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEMRE 176,855 204,748 1,077,098 949,997 925,268
Total liabilities BEBE 67,698 99,606 716,685 759,443 729,089
Net assets BEFE 109,157 105,142 360,413 190,554 196,179

Non-controlling interests FEPE IR B 2 6,615 4,836 249,276 178,604 178,227

1 60 China Gamma Group Limited FEIBEEEARAF]
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